University of Arkansas, Fayetteville ScholarWorks@UARK

Graduate Theses and Dissertations

5-2016

Responses of Semi-aquatic Snakes to Drought

Philip Nicholas Vogrinc University of Arkansas, Fayetteville

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uark.edu/etd

Part of the Terrestrial and Aquatic Ecology Commons

Citation

Vogrinc, P. N. (2016). Responses of Semi-aquatic Snakes to Drought. *Graduate Theses and Dissertations* Retrieved from https://scholarworks.uark.edu/etd/1605

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by ScholarWorks@UARK. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UARK. For more information, please contact scholar@uark.edu, uarepos@uark.edu.

Responses of Semi-aquatic Snakes to Drought

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Biology

by

Philip Nicholas Vogrinc University of Wisconsin-Stevens Point Bachelor of Science in Wildlife Ecology and Management; Biology, 2010

May 2016 University of Arkansas

This thesis is approved for recommendation to the Graduate Council.

Dr. John D. Willson Thesis Director

Dr. Steve Beaupre Committee Member Dr. Dan Magoulick Committee Member

ABSTRACT

Aquatic ecosystems and their associated wildlife are threatened by alteration in the frequency and intensity of precipitation events predicted to affect many regions as a consequence of global climate change. Semi-aquatic snakes serve important roles as predators and prey within aquatic ecosystems, yet little is known about the effects of drought on these species due to their secretive behavior. Long-term studies at an isolated wetland in South Carolina found that drought caused populations of banded watersnakes (Nerodia fasciata) and Florida green watersnakes (Nerodia floridana) to crash. Alternatively, black swamp snakes (Seminatrix *pygaea*) fared well, exhibiting a resistance strategy by aestivating within the wetland. This thesis presents two studies that build on our understanding of these observed patterns. The first chapter evaluates the generality of these interspecific differences in drought susceptibility by conducting a landscape scale analysis of semi-aquatic snake responses to drought using an occupancy modeling approach. We compared changes in occupancy and detectability from 20 isolated wetlands in South Carolina before drought to after drought. Our results confirm that interspecific patterns of drought sensitivity observed previously at one wetland are paralleled at the landscape scale. Specifically, site occupancy decreased dramatically for N. fasciata (0.95 to 0.69) and N. floridana (0.32 to 0.05) but was relatively unchanged for S. pygaea (0.41 to 0.45), Farancia abacura (0.49 to 0.49) and Regina rigida (0.10 to 0.28). Our results confirm that supra-seasonal drought can have negative effects on some, but not all, semi-aquatic snake species. The second chapter investigates interspecific variation in two traits that may mediate species' responses to drought: evaporative mass loss (EML; the rate of water and product lost through respiratory, cutaneous and ocular pathways) and locomotor endurance (total distance, total time, and speed traveled before exhaustion in aquatic habitats and in hydrated and dehydrated state in terrestrial

habitats). We find that for EML, species group into three categories that do not follow taxonomic relationships, with *N. floridana* exhibiting unexpectedly high and *Regina rigida* (glossy crayfish snake) exhibiting unexpectedly low rates of EML. Species also vary in their ability and willingness to move over land, suggesting that some species may be more willing or able to make terrestrial overland movements in response to drought than others. Our results identify important mechanisms that may drive variable responses of semi-aquatic snakes to environmental variation. In particular, the apparent sensitivity of *N. floridana* to drought may be driven in part by its high rate of EML and reluctance to move terrestrially. Taken together, this thesis builds our understanding of patterns of interspecific variation in sensitivity to drought and traits that may underpin this variation. This information is a critical component of understanding, predicting, and mitigating populations threated by climate change and other anthropogenic alterations to the environment.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to especially thank my advisor Dr. J.D. Willson for his unprecedented guidance, patience, understanding, support and encouragement throughout my graduate career. I would also like to especially thank my family including Bruce Vogrinc, Marybeth Vogrinc, Joe Verace, Maria Rice, Bridget Wedoff and Annie Vogrinc who always provided loving and unending support. I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Dan Magoulick and Dr. Steve Beaupre for being great teachers, role models and believing in me. I would like to thank Brooke Morrow, Jason Ortega, Brad Austin, Ayla Smart, Hal Halverson, Craig Lind, Chelsea Kross, Jackie Guzy, Meredith Swartwout, and Kelly Haloran for being fantastic friends, coworkers, advisors and supporters throughout my experience at the University of Arkansas. Finally I would like to thank the University of Arkansas and the Savannah River Ecology Laboratory for their support.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INTRODUCTION	1
	A. References	7
II.	LANDSCAPE SCALE CHANGES IN OCCUPANCY (PSI)	12
	AND DETECTABILITY (P) OF SEMI-AQUATIC SNAKES DURING	
	SUPRASEASONAL DROUGHT	
	A. Abstract	12
	B. Introduction	13
	C. Methods	16
	D. Results	21
	E. Discussion	24
	F. References	33
	G. Acknowledgments	41
	H. Tables	42
	I. Figure Legends	44
	J. Figures	45
III.	MECHANISMS THAT MEDIATE VARIATION	48
	IN RESPONSE OF SEMI-AQUAIC SNAKES TO DROUGHT: EVAPORATIVE MASS LOSS AND LOCOMOTION	
	A. Abstract	48
	B. Introduction	49
	C. Methods	53
	D. Results	57
	E. Discussion	60
	F. References	67
	G. Acknowledgements	74
	H. Figure Legends	75
	I. Figures	76
IV.	CONCLUSIONS	79
V.	APPENDICES	81
	A. Appendix A: IACUC approval chapter 1	81
	B. Appendix B: IACUC approval chapter 2	82

I. INTRODUCTION

Unlike any other celestial body known to man, planet Earth provides bountiful and essential resources necessary to support and sustain life. Many of these resources and their renewable qualities are deteriorating due to rapidly increasing human populations (United Nations, 1999) engaged in gross over-consumption. This phenomenon has brought Earth to the brink of an ecological catastrophe, as the pace of human activity outpaces compensatory ecosystem processes. These rapid changes have altered many of Earth's natural processes, producing or accelerating many phenomena such as shifts in mean global temperature, loss of sea ice, sea level rise, and ocean acidification (Meehl et al., 2007). Synergistically, these factors contribute to changes in global climate that include dramatic changes in precipitation patterns and increases in extreme weather events (Trenberth et al., 2007).

In coincidence with altered precipitation extremes, the frequency and intensity of drought has increased globally (Trenberth et al., 2007). Arguably, droughts are formed by sunspots (Tannehill, 1949), solar forcing (Hodell et al., 2001), or fluctuations in large scale sea-surface temperatures that stall dry, high pressure, air systems (Lake, 2011). Although, there are many ways to define drought and no universal definition (Bond et al., 2008), two types fit into the context of freshwater systems addressed in this thesis: 1) periodic and predictable seasonal droughts, and, that which is the focus of thesis, 2) longer and unpredictable supraseasonal droughts characterized by a decline in precipitation and available water (Lake, 2003). Droughts alter the structure and function of ecological systems (Lake, 2003; Dahm et al., 2003) and associated wildlife (e.g., Rhind & Bradley, 2002; Sperry & Weatherhead, 2008).

1

Previous research regarding effects of drought on wildlife populations is limited compared to some other types of stochastic events (e.g., flooding; Ratcliffe et al., 2005) due to droughts' unpredictability, long temporal extent, and the lack of a standardized system for characterizing drought severity (Lake et al., 2007). Nevertheless, drought-associated population declines have been documented in focal studies of a diverse array of species, including primates (e.g., Gould et al., 1999), marsupials (e.g., Fisher et al., 2001; Gordon et al., 1988), fish (e.g., Matthews & Marsh-Matthews, 2003; Hakala & Hartman, 2004), insects (e.g., Rouault et al., 2006; Mattson & Haack, 1987), reptiles (e.g., Sperry & Weatherhead, 2008; Lillywhite & Tu, 2011), amphibians (e.g., Dodd, 1994), and birds (e.g., Robertson, 1987; Brenner, 1966). Although these focal studies build a foundation for understanding species' responses and population trends, they have intrinsic limitations since they often represent trends over small spatial scales. Few studies have tested how universal these patterns are across the landscape (e.g., Walls et al., 2013; Price et al., 2012).

Regardless of the information available about trends of a particular population of interest, identification of organismal traits that are important in mediating drought responses is often difficult (Williams et al., 2008). Species vulnerability to climatic change such as drought, depends on the species exposure, sensitivity, resilience, and potential to adapt to these changes (Huey et al., 2012). Particularly, physiological traits often determine a species sensitivity to environmental extremes (Huey et al., 2012), and have been of particular focus in predicting extinction risk (Sinervo et al., 2010), and range-shifts (Humphries et al., 2002), due to climatic changes. For example changes in sea surface temperature were found to result in behavioral limitations and reproductive failure related to the physiology of intertidal species like barnacles and polychaetes, resulting in significant range shifts over the last century (Wethey & Woodin,

2008; Mangum & Cox, 1981). However, to our knowledge, few studies have investigated physiological mechanisms that might explain observed population responses to drought. Identification and understanding of these mechanisms will help forecast the impacts of climate change to assist researchers, resource managers and policy makers (Helmuth, 2009). However, the current information gap impedes our ability to generalize trends from focal studies to other scales, populations, or species.

Species with physiological adaptations to drought are said to have 'resistant' and/or 'resilient' traits (Bond et al., 2008). Those species termed 'resistant' avoid mortality through desiccation resistance or by selecting habitat less affected by drought. Alternatively, resilient species have high capacities for dispersal and/or recruitment that allow them to recover rapidly from drought-induced declines (Bond et al., 2008). Two physiological mechanisms that may be important in mediating drought effects are evaporative mass loss and locomotor performance. Since water is scarce during drought and is likely a limiting factor for survival, minimizing evaporative water loss via respiratory, cutaneous, and ocular pathways, (Mautz, 1982) may be an essential adaptation for resistant species. For resilient species, overall capacity to disperse, quantified by metrics like maximum dispersal distance and speed, is likely a critical attribute influencing drought survival and recovery.

Snakes are one group of organisms that may possess resistance or resilience traits to cope with drought. As ectotherms, many snakes can persist for long durations without eating, separating themselves from the often cyclical abundance patterns of their prey (McCue, 2007). For semi-aquatic snakes, explosive prey-densities, limited competition, and high feeding frequency allows snakes to reach unprecedented abundances in some ecosystems. For example, dog-faced watersnakes (*Cerberus schnederii*) can reach densities of 102 snakes per hectare in mangrove tidal swamps in Singapore (Chim & Doiong, 2013) and black swamp snakes (*Seminatrix pygaea*) and banded watersnakes (*Nerodia fasciata*) were estimated to reach densities of 171 snakes per hectare and consume over 37 kg per hectare of amphibian prey annually in isolated wetlands of South Carolina, USA. Therefore, since snakes can reach high abundances and consume large quantities of prey in aquatic systems, they are considered important predators to aquatic systems like isolated wetlands (Willson & Winne, 2016).

Long-term research on semi-aquatic snake population dynamics within one wetland in the Southeastern United States has yielded substantial information on the effects of drought on semi-aquatic snake communities. Ellenton Bay is a 10 hectare, semi-permanent, isolated wetland rich in reptile and amphibian diversity. Since 1975, this wetland has experienced multiple shortterm periodic droughts and three multi-year supraseasonal droughts that resulted in periods of sustained and complete drying. Seigel et al. (1995), Winne (2008) and Willson et al. (2006) sampled snakes at Ellenton Bay using diverse methods before and after supraseasonal drought events, piecing together drought responses and population trends for a number of semi-aquatic snake species. The highly aquatic black swamp snake (Seminatrix pygaea) was least effected by drought, exhibiting a resistance strategy by aestivating within the wetland, and exhibiting little change in relative abundance over multi-year droughts (Winne, 2008). Conversely, the banded watersnake (Nerodia fasciata) suffered a drastic reduction in relative abundance during droughts, but quickly recovered post-drought through rapid reproduction and recruitment as a resilience strategy. Exhibiting neither a resistance nor resilience strategy, the Florida green watersnake (Nerodia floridana) was locally extirpated by drought, took years to reestablish, and never regained its pre-drought relative abundance (Willson et al., 2006; Seigel et al., 1995). Thus, dramatic interspecific variation in both behavioral and population responses to drought was

observed. This thesis addresses two main objectives: 1) to determine if these population-level patterns in drought sensitivity among semi-aquatic snakes translate to landscape-scale changes in occupancy and abundance; 2) to identify important physiological mechanisms that might drive interspecific variation in drought responses.

In my first chapter, I used an occupancy modeling framework to investigate the effect of a supra-seasonal drought on the distribution and abundance of a semi-aquatic snake community in the Southeastern Coastal Plain of the Southeastern United States. I collected presence/absence data using repeated systematic trapping of snakes within 20 isolated wetlands in South Carolina. I then compared our results with similar data collected in 2006, prior to the drought to assess changes in occupancy and abundance during drought. I also investigated wetland and landscape covariates that might relate to species occupancy or detectability. I hypothesized that historical species patterns documented at one wetland would translate for all species across the landscape. For example, I predicted that both occupancy and detectability of *S. pygaea* would remain constant and that both *N. fasciata* and *N. floridana* would experience significant reductions in both parameters.

In my second chapter, I investigate mechanisms that might explain observed interspecific variation in snake responses to drought. I hypothesize that EML and locomotor performance are key traits that might heavily influence a species' ability to respond to drought. I measured interspecific differences in EML for five semi-aquatic snake species by mass lost by individuals held for six hours in an environmental chamber at 27°C and 50% relative humidity. I hypothesized that species would vary in their rates of water loss and locomotor ability, and that these physiological capabilities might relate to documented population and community dynamics related to periodic extreme droughts. For example, I predicted that severe declines in *N*.

5

floridana might be partially explained by high rates of EML. I also constructed two circular tracks (aquatic and terrestrial) to evaluate interspecific variation in locomotor performance of 50 individual snakes of four species. Each snake performed three trial types: fully aquatic, hydrated terrestrial, and dehydrated terrestrial and performance of each species was quantified using metrics such as total distance to exhaustion, total time to exhaustion, and speed traveled before exhaustion. We predicted that hydrated snakes would travel farther terrestrially than dehydrated snakes, and that large species known to disperse long distances (e.g., *N. fasciata* and *F. abacura*) would travel farther terrestrially than smaller species that are rarely encountered out of water (e.g., *S. pygaea*).

References

- Bond, N. R., Lake, P. S., & Arthington, A. H. (2008). The impacts of drought on freshwater ecosystems: an Australian perspective. *Hydrobiologia*, 1, 3-16.
- Brenner, F. J. (1966). The influence of drought on reproduction in a breeding population of Redwinged Blackbirds. *American Midland Naturalist*, 76, 201-210.
- Chim, C. K. & Doiong, C. H. (2013). A mark-recapture study of a dog-faced water snake *Cerberus schneiderii (Colubridae: Homolopsidae)* population in Sungei Buloh wetland reserve, Singapore. *Raffles Bulletin of Zoology*, 61, 811–825.
- Dahm, C., Baker, M. A., Moore, D. I., & Thibault, J. R. (2003). Coupled biogeochemical and hydrological responses of streams and rivers to drought. *Freshwater Biology*, 48, 1219-1231.
- Dodd Jr, C. K. (1994). The effects of drought on population structure, activity, and orientation of toads (*Bufo quercicus* and *B. terrestris*) at a temporary pond. *Ethology ecology & evolution*, 6, 331-319.
- Fisher, D. O., Blomberg, S. P., & Hoyle, S. D. (2001). Mechanisms of drought-induced population decline in an endangered wallaby. *Biological Conservation*, 102, 107-115.
- Gordon, G., Brown, A. S., & Pulsford, T. (1988). A koala (*Phascolarctos cinereus* (Goldfuss)) population crash during drought and heatwave conditions in south-western Queensland. *Australian Journal of Ecology*, 13, 451-461.
- Gould, L., Sussman, R. W., & Sauther, M. L. (1999). Natural disasters and primate populations: the effects of a 2-year drought on a naturally occurring population of ring-tailed lemurs (*Lemur catta*) in southwestern Madagascar. *International Journal of Primatology*, 20, 69-84.
- Hakala, J. P., & Hartman, K. J. (2004). Drought effect on stream morphology and brook trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) populations in forested headwater streams. *Hydrobiologia*, 515, 203-213.

- Helmuth, B. (2009). From cells to coastlines: how can we use physiology to forecast the impacts of climate change?. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 212, 753-760.
- Hodell, D. A., Brenner, M., Curtis, J. H., & Guilderson, T. (2001). Solar forcing of drought frequency in the Maya lowlands. *Science*, 292, 1367-1370.
- Huey, R. B., Kearney, M. R., Krockenberger, A., Holtum, J. A. M., Jess, M. & Williams, S. E. 2012. Predicting organismal vulnerability to climate warming: roles of behaviour, physiology and adaptation. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 367, 1665-1679.
- Humphries, M. M., Thomas, D. W., & Speakman, J. R. (2002). Climate-mediated energetic constraints on the distribution of hibernating mammals. *Nature*, 418, 313-316.
- Lake, P. S. (2003). Ecological effects of perturbation by drought in flowing waters. *Freshwater biology*, 48, 1161-1172.
- Lake, P. S., Reich, P., & Bond, N. R. (2007). Drought in freshwater ecosystems: An appraisal of progress. *International Society of Limnology (SIL) Annual Conference Proceedings*. Montreal, Canada.
- Lake, P. S. (2011). Drought and aquatic ecosystems: effects and responses. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Lillywhite, H. B., & Tu, M. C. (2011). Abundance of sea kraits correlates with precipitation. *PLoS One*, 6, e28556.
- Mangum, C. P. & Cox, C. D. (1971). Analysis of the feeding response in the onuphid polychaete *Diopatra cuprea* (Bosc). *Biological Bulletin*, 140, 215–229.
- Matthews, W. J., & Marsh-Matthews, E. (2003). Effects of drought on fish across axes of space, time and ecological complexity. *Freshwater Biology*, 48, 1232-1253.

- Mattson, W. J., & Haack, R. A. (1987). The role of drought in outbreaks of plant-eating insects. *BioScience*, 37, 110-118.
- Mautz, W. J. 1982. Patterns of evaporative water loss. Biology of the Reptilia, 12, 443-481
- McCue, M. D. (2007). Western diamondback rattlesnakes demonstrate physiological and biochemical strategies for tolerating prolonged starvation. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology*, 80, 25-34.
- Meehl, G.A., T. F. Stocker, W. D. Collins, P. Friedlingstein, A. T. Gaye, J. M. Gregory, A. Kitoh, ... Zhao, Z. C. 2007. Global Climate Projections. In: Climate Change 2007: The physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change [Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Chen, Z., Marquis, M., Averyt,... Miller, H. L. (eds)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Price, S. J., Browne, R. A. & Dorcas, M. E. (2012). Resistance and resilience of a stream salamander to supraseasonal drought. *Herpetologica*. 68, 312-323.
- Ratcliffe, N., Schmitt, S. & Whiffin, M. (2005). Sink or swim? Viability of a black-tailed godwit population in relation to flooding. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 42, 834-843.
- Rhind, S. G., & Bradley, J. S. (2002). The effect of drought on body size, growth and abundance of wild brush-tailed phascogales (*Phascogale tapoatafa*) in south-western Australia. *Wildlife Research*, 29, 235-245.
- Robertson, G. (1987). Effect of drought on a breeding population of Wedge-tailed Eagles *Aquila audax. Emu*, 87, 220-223.
- Rouault, G., Candau, J. N., Lieutier, F., Nageleisen, L. M., Martin, J. C., & Warzee, N. (2006). Effects of drought and heat on forest insect populations in relation to the 2003 drought in Western Europe. *Annals of Forest Science*, 63, 613-624.

- Seigel, R. A., Gibbons, J. W., & Lynch, T. K. (1995). Temporal changes in reptile populations: effects of a severe drought on aquatic snakes. *Herpetologica*, 51, 424-434.
- Sinervo, B., Méndez-de-la-Cruz, F., Miles, D. B., Heulin, B., Bastiaans, E., Villagrán-Santa Cruz, M., ... Sites Jr., J. W. (2010). Erosion of lizard diversity by climate change and altered thermal niches. *Science*, 328, 894–899.
- Sperry, J. H., & Weatherhead, P. J. (2008). Prey-mediated effects of drought on condition and survival of a terrestrial snake. *Ecology*, 89, 2770-2776.
- Tannehill, I. R. (1949). Drought-Its causes and effects. *Journal of the South African Forestry Association*, 18, 83-84.
- Trenberth, K. E., Jones, P. D., Ambenje, P., Bojariu, R., Easterling, D., Klein, T. A., ... Zhai, P. (2007) Observations: Surface and atmospheric climate change. In: Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Chen, Z., and others (eds) Climate change 2007. The physical science basis. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Fourth Assessment report. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, UK, New York, NY, USA.
- United Nations. (1999). Long-Range World Population Projections: Based on the 1998 Revision. United Nations, New York, ESA/P/WP.153.
- Walls, S. C., Barichivich, W. J., Brown, M. E., Scott, D. E., & Hossack, B. R. (2013). Influence of drought on salamander occupancy of isolated wetlands on the southeastern Coastal Plain of the United States. *Wetlands*, 33, 345–354.
- Wethey, D. S. & Woodin, S. A. (2008). Ecological hindcasting of biogeographic responses to climate change in the European intertidal zone. *Hydrobiologia*, 606, 139-151.
- Williams, S. E., Shoo, L. P., Issac, J. L., Hoffman, A. A., & Langham, G. (2008). Towards an integrated framework for assessing the vulnerability of species to climate change. *PLoS Biology*, 6, 325.
- Willson, J. D., Winne, C. T., Dorcas, M. E., & Gibbons, J. W. (2006). Post-drought responses of semi-aquatic snakes inhabiting an isolated wetland: insights on different strategies for persistence in a dynamic habitat. *Wetlands*, 26, 1071-1078.

- Willson, J. D., & Winne, C. T. (2016). The predatory role of aquatic snakes in isolated wetlands: A case study evaluating functional roles of secretive species. *Journal of Zoology*, 298, 266-273.
- Winne, C.T. (2008). Seminatrix pygaea, a model of ecological resilience in dynamic habitats. PhD thesis, University of Georgia.

II. LANDSCAPE-SCALE CHANGES IN OCCUPANCY AND DETECTABILITY OF SEMI-AQUATIC SNAKES DURING A SUPRASEASONAL DROUGHT

A. Abstract

Climate change is predicted to result in increased average temperatures and alteration in the frequency and intensity of precipitation events, placing stress on aquatic ecosystems and their associated wildlife. Semi-aquatic snakes serve important roles as predators and prey within aquatic ecosystems and several species are threatened. Yet, little is known about the effects of drought on semi-aquatic snakes due to their secretive behavior. Long-term studies at an isolated wetland in South Carolina found that drought caused populations of banded watersnakes (Nerodia fasciata) and Florida green watersnakes (Nerodia floridana) to crash. Alternatively, black swamp snakes (Seminatrix pygaea) fared well, exhibiting a resistance strategy by aestivating within the wetland. However, the generality of these interspecific differences in drought susceptibility remains unknown. We collected presence/absence data using repeated systematic trapping of snakes within 20 isolated wetlands in South Carolina before the onset of a multi-year supraseasonal drought in 2006. After the drought ended in 2013, we resampled those same 20 wetlands and used occupancy modeling to determine drought-induced shifts in occupancy and detection for five semi-aquatic snake species. We also collected wetland and landscape covariates that may influence species occupancy, detectability, and drought susceptibility. Site occupancy decreased dramatically for N. fasciata (0.95 to 0.69) and N. floridana (0.32 to 0.05) but was relatively unchanged for S. pygaea, Farancia abacura (mudsnake), and *Regina rigida* (glossy crayfish snake). Our results confirm that supra-seasonal drought can have varying effects on distribution and abundance of semi-aquatic snake species.

Species that lack adaptations that make them resistant or resilient to drought may become locally extirpated.

B. Introduction

Earth is currently experiencing a sixth mass extinction (Barnosky et al., 2011). Various anthropogenic impacts contribute to rapid environmental changes that have altered ecosystems and eliminated species across the globe (Allen, 2010). In combination with other drivers of change, such as invasive species introductions and habitat destruction, global climate change produces a synergistic effect on biodiversity loss and ecological responses (Walther, 2010; Tilman, 1994; Przesławski et al., 2005; Dukes & Mooney, 1999). For example, at least one vertebrate extinction is attributed to climate change (Pounds et al., 1999), and minimal climate warming scenarios estimate approximately 18% of species are committed to extinction by 2050 (Thomas et al., 2004). Two important consequences of global climate change are increased warming and alteration of precipitation regimes that may affect community composition and species distributions (Trenberth, 2011; Brown et al., 1997; Walther et al., 2002). For example, both the frequency of heavy precipitation events and drought have increased in many regions (Trenberth et al., 2007), resulting in shifts in habitat suitability for many species. Thus, species distributions may rapidly shift in elevation or latitude (Chen et al., 2011). As shifts occur, well established species interactions may change or unravel (Walther et al., 2002; Yang & Rudolf, 2010). This reorganization of community composition may result in trophic cascades and changes in processes essential to ecosystem integrity (Dukes & Mooney, 1999).

One undesirable consequence of alterations in precipitation due to global climate change is supra-seasonal drought. Climate change models predict that drought frequency, intensity, and duration will increase in many regions (Meehl et al., 2007). Defined as long, irregular, and unpredictable periods of below average rainfall (Lake, 2003), supra-seasonal drought can strongly influence the magnitude of other stochastic disturbance events. For example, prolonged drought desiccates dead and decaying organic materials, increasing their flammability and fire risk (Knight, 1987; Bigler et al., 2005). Drought can also reduce the available water, food, and habitat resources within an ecosystem, thereby influencing survival, growth, and reproduction of wildlife. For example, brush-tailed phascogales (Phascogale tapoatafa) suffered 15-25% reductions in body size and a one-third reduction in species detection probability during drought (Rhind & Bradley, 2002). Depending on the severity, drought may result in simple negative effects on the health of individual organisms or large reductions in populations (Seabrook et al., 2011). Metapopulation dynamics can also be altered, as drought influences home range sizes, dispersal, and colonization. For example, during a drought year, desert tortoises (Gopherus agassizii) occupied smaller home ranges, fewer burrows, and were less active than in nondrought years (Duda et al., 1999). Finally, as the available surface water across a landscape is limited, wildlife is forced to concentrate, increasing the severity of competition and probability of disease (Kock, 2005).

Drought inflicts considerable stress on a variety of organisms, especially those that are closely tied to aquatic systems. Traditionally, species regularly confronted with drought exhibit either resistance or resilience traits (strategies) that allow them to either survive or recolonize and repopulate after drought-induced declines, respectively (Bond et al., 2008). However, projected increases in drought intensity may be too extreme for even "drought-tolerant" species to withstand (Bond et al., 2008). Of the organisms vulnerable to climatic changes in aquatic environments, semi-aquatic snakes fall into a peculiar category in regards to their ability to

confront change. Semi-aquatic snakes that rely on aquatic habitats for shelter and food and can withstand long periods of starvation due to low metabolic demands (Pough, 1980), but exhibit limited vagility due to physiological characteristics such as high rates of evaporative water loss and small body size (Winne et al., 2001 & 2006). However, due to their secretive behavior, little is known about what strategies semi-aquatic snake species employ to deal with drought or the consequences of these strategies for long term dynamics of populations and communities that experience periodic supra-seasonal drought events.

Decades of intense herpetological research at Ellenton Bay, a ten hectare isolated semipermanent wetland in the Coastal Plain of the Southeastern United States, has yielded insight into the influence of drought on semi-aquatic snake population and community dynamics. Since 1974, Ellenton bay experience multiple periodic droughts including three multi-year supraseasonal droughts (Fig 1.) The highly aquatic black swamp snake (Seminatrix pygaea) was least effected by drought, exhibiting a resistance strategy by aestivating within the wetland and exhibiting little change in relative abundance over multi-year droughts that left the wetland dry and devoid of larval amphibian prey for months (Willson et al., 2006). Conversely, the banded watersnake (*Nerodia fasciata*) severely, but quickly recovered post-drought through rapid reproduction and recruitment as a resilience strategy. In fact, N. fasciata represented nearly half of captures pre-drought, was nearly undetectable for at least a year following drought, but recovered to and exceeded pre-drought abundances within three years (Winne, 2008; Willson et al., 2006). Exhibiting neither a resistance nor resilience strategy, the Florida green watersnake (Nerodia floridana) was locally extirpated, took three years to reestablish, and never regained its pre-drought relative abundance (Willson et al., 2006; Seigel et al., 1995). Thus, dramatic interspecific variation in both behavioral and population responses to drought was observed.

15

However, additional investigation is needed to determine if these patterns are location-specific, or if they occur broadly across the landscape.

In this study, we investigated variation in landscape scale-effects of drought on distribution and abundance of five sympatric semi-aquatic snake species *—Nerodia fasciata*, *N. floridana*, *Seminatrix pygaea*, mud snake (*Faranacia abacura*), and glossy crayfish snake (*Regina rigida*). We capitalized on an intense supraseasonal drought occurring from 2007- 2012 to systematically sample for semi-aquatic snakes before and after drought. We estimated pre- and post-drought species-specific detectability (p) and occupancy (psi) across twenty wetlands using an occupancy modeling framework (MacKenzie, 2006). We investigated landscape and wetland characteristics that may influence shifts in abundance and distribution associated with drought. Our study represents the first landscape-scale analysis of drought effects on snake communities, and highlights the importance of understanding species' responses to environmental variation that may be exacerbated by climate change.

C. Methods

Study Sites

Twenty freshwater wetlands located on the US Department of Energy's Savannah River Site (SRS) representing a diverse hydrological gradient from semi-permanent to permanent were surveyed in 2006 (pre-drought; Fig. 1) and 2013 (post-drought) for semi-aquatic snakes. From 2007-2012 the SRS experienced the most severe drought in at least the past three decades, leaving most isolated wetlands dry for months at a time (Fig. 1). The SRS encompasses nearly 932 km² within the Upper Coast Plain of South Carolina (Aiken and Barnwell Counties), USA, and includes a variety of habitats such as bald cypress swamp, long leaf pine forest, black water creeks, and Carolina bays, and other freshwater wetlands. The Savannah River forms the western boundary of the site, with an extensive floodplain composed of semi-permanent water and lowland forest. The SRS encourages management (fire), conservation (set aside areas), and research, while limiting anthropogenic impacts, resulting in relatively pristine and unfragmented habitats in comparison to surrounding landscape.

The 20 wetlands selected for sampling were between 5 and 150 ha in size and were chosen to meet the following criteria: 1) open canopy, 2) surface water/precipitation dominated, 3) <1 mile from access (road), 4) non-polluted, and 5) within SRS boundaries. The selected wetlands included most of those available that met the aforementioned selection criteria and were selected to be representative of the entire population (e.g., Thompson & Seber, 1996; Mackenzie, 2005).

Field Methods

All wetlands were sampled during May and June in 2006 (pre-drought; Durso et al., 2011) and 2013 (post-drought). Snakes were captured using plastic minnow traps (model 700, Gator Buckets, Ladoga, IN) which are effective for capturing semi-aquatic snakes (Willson et al., 2008). In both years, one array of 60 traps was set each night for five consecutive nights (300 trap-nights) per wetland; thus one array-night (60 trap-nights) represented one sampling unit. In 2006, five wetlands had dried sufficiently that they could not accommodate the full array of 60 traps. Thus, these five wetlands were trapped with half of the standard effort: 30 traps for 5 nights (150 trap-nights). To account for this heterogeneity in effort, a sampling covariate for effort was incorporated into model selection in 2006. Effort was categorized by "1" for the 5 wetlands that were trapped with 30 traps and "2" for the remaining 15 wetlands that were trapped

with 60 traps. Traps were placed 2-3 m apart in shallow water at the vegetated periphery of each wetland, leaving (~1") of trap above water to provide air for captured animals. Traps were checked daily and captured snakes were measured (sex, snout-vent length [mm], body mass [nearest 0.01 g on a digital balance]), and released at the capture location within 10 m of the trap array, immediately (2013) or within 24 h (2006). Traps were self-baited due to the capture and accumulation of prey such as amphibians, fish, and crayfish. Predatory invertebrates (large diving beetles, giant water bugs, and large crayfish) that could potentially harm captured snakes were removed each day.

Covariates

We measured seven site covariates based on perceived importance and previous research (Durso et al., 2011). Distance to the Savannah River floodplain was measured from the center of the wetland of interest to the nearest boundary of the floodplain, using ArcGIS. Wetland permanence was assigned either quantitatively, depending on the number of days each wetland contained standing water during drought, based on historical hydrological data for some wetlands, or qualitatively, based on observations of wetland hydrology by the authors between 1998 and 2013, a time frame that included at least two supraseasonal droughts (Fig. 1). Wetlands were ranked as follows: 1 (never dries), 0.80 (only dries during supra-seasonal droughts), 0.60 (only dries periodically), 0.40 (dries annually but stays filled in wet years), 0.20 (dries annually).

Four site covariates representing wetland prey communities were generated based on relative abundance in minnow traps: (mole salamander larvae [*Ambystoma talpodium*] relative abundance, fish relative abundance, crayfish relative abundance, giant salamander relative abundance [*Siren* and *Amphiuma*]) were recorded before and after drought. A fifth habit

covariate was created by subtracting pre-drought fish abundances from post-drought fish relative abundances, producing the change in fish abundance associated with drought for each wetland. Minnow traps were allowed to accumulate prey for the first 24 h after being set. Counts of all fish, larval and paedomorphic *A. talpoideum*, giant salamanders, and crayfish were then tallied as the average number of individuals per trap. Only 2006 prey data were used as covariates in addition to the change in fish variable.

Data Analysis

Occupancy modeling allows for the estimation of a proportion of an area inhabited by a species (occupancy) while accounting for the probability that species may be missed or overlooked during surveys due to imperfect detection. Single-species, single-season occupancy models were constructed in program PRESENCE (MacKenzie et al., 2006) to estimate occupancy (ψ) and detectability (p) of five snake species separately in pre (2006) and post-drought (2013) years. The following model assumptions were met to avoid bias of parameter estimates 1) within years, sites were closed to changes in occupancy 2) no false presences in the data (i.e. no misidentifications) 3) no unmodeled heterogeneity in detection probability and 4) species detection histories are independent (MacKenzie et al., 2006). We attempted to use more robust multi-season models (MacKenzie et al., 2006) that allow estimation of extinction and colonization probabilities, but these models frequently failed to converge due to small sample size and low detectability.

A Principal Component Analysis (PCA) in Primer (Clarke & Gorley, 2006) was used to reduce the seven selected covariates (*see Covariates*) into two informative composite variables with orthogonal rotation (C1 and C2). Covariates were combined into components to reduce dimensionality, simplify model selection (7 variables to 2 variables), and increase statistical power without violating common rule of thumb; covariates < (0.1-0.2 x sample size; Harrell, 2001). The two components with the highest percent variation (C1 and C2) were extracted from a five component analysis. All raw covariate data was z-transformed before the PCA was conducted (Jury, 1964).

Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) model selection was used to explore covariate effects on ψ and p for all candidate models. AICc was used for all species across all seasons by specifying the effective sample size using a conservative approach based on the number of sampling units (20 wetlands; MacKenzie, 2006). A set of sixteen models was considered in the selection process for each species in each season (Table 1) starting with the global model, the most complex model that contains the most parameters (i.e., $\psi(C1,C2) p(C1,C2)$). From the global model, models were constructed representing each possible combination of constant (.), C1, and C2, including the null model ($\psi(.) p(.)$), for occupancy and detectability (see Table 1). For 2006, an effort covariate (E) was included for p in all models to account for heterogeneity in sampling effort (see above). The global model was parametric bootstrapped 1000 times to assess model fit and c-hat was adjusted for over or underdispersion (MacKenzie & Bailey, 2004; Akaike, 1998; Burnham & Anderson, 2002). If overdispersed, models were reranked using QAIC and the number of model parameters was increased by one. For underdispersed models, chat was inflated to 1 and AICc ranking was used (White et al, 2001; Medeiros & Feed, 2009). Models with values < 2 AIC were considered as supported top models.

Because PRESENCE does not present derived parameters directly in the likelihood, standard errors for all parameters must use the Delta Method to calculate the variance of backtransformed estimates in order to estimate 95% confidence intervals. We used a simplified version by taking the desired untransformed regression coefficient (β) and adding or subtracting it to the untransformed standard error, then back-transforming to get the upper or lower confidence interval of the estimate.

In order to assess factors that might influence shifts in abundance of each species, raw capture rates of *N. fasciata*, *N. floridana*, and *S. pygaea*, standardized for effort, were visually examined in each year relative to wetland permanence and distance to the Savannah River floodplain.

D. Results

Aquatic trapping across 20 wetlands resulted in 242 captures of 10 species in 2006 (5250 trap-nights) and 113 captures of 10 species in 2013 (6000 trap-nights). The five species used in our analysis included *Nerodia fasciata* (2006 n = 147; 2013 n = 42 captures), *Nerodia floridana* (2006 n = 15; 2013 n = 5); *Seminatrix pygaea* (2006 n = 37; 2013 n = 27), *Farancia abacura* (2006 n = 27; 2013 n = 15) and *Regina rigida* (2006 n = 5; 2013 n = 4).

Principal component analysis yielded two factors that explained 62% of the cumulative variation in site covariates (Table 2): C1, 42.3% of variation, eigenvalue = 2.98; and C2, 19.7% of variation, eigenvalue = 1.39. Principal component one (C1) was strongly negatively correlated with wetland permanence, fish abundance, and giant salamander abundance, and positively correlated with *A. talpoideum* abundance and change in abundance of fish. Thus, wetlands with high scores for C1 were less permanent and had undergone a large change in fish abundance during drought, thus leading to lower abundance of fish and giant salamanders, but higher abundance of crayfish and *A. talpoidium*. Principal component two (C2) was strongly negatively

correlated with proximity to the Savannah River floodplain and *A. talpoidium* abundance, and positively correlated with crayfish abundance. Therefore, wetlands with higher scores for C2 were closer to the Savannah River floodplain and had lower abundances of *A. talpoidium*, but higher abundance of crayfish.

Model selection revealed that for most species in both pre and post-drought years either the null model was favored and/or multiple models were favored with low individual weight (W_i) (Table 1), likely due to the relatively small number of sites we were able to sample. Two species did have heavily weighted top models in 2013 (post-drought). The top model for *N. fasciata* favored C1 ($W_i = 0.65$) for both occupancy and detectability; indicating post-drought association with wetland permanence for this species. Conversely, the top model for *R. rigida* favored C2 ($W_i = 0.66$) for both occupancy and detectability; indicating an association with distance to the Savannah River floodplain for this species.

Interspecific variation in both null model occupancy and detectability occurred in both pre and post-drought years (Fig. 2). Pre-drought detectability estimates were relatively high, ranging from p = 0.44 (*N. floridana*) to p = 0.69 (*N. fasciata*). Pre-drought, *N. fasciata* occupied nearly every wetland sampled and had the highest estimated occupancy of any species ($\psi = 0.95$). Alternatively, the congeneric *N. floridana* was estimated to only occupy one-third of the wetlands sampled ($\psi = 0.32$). *Seminatrix pygaea* was estimated to occupy approximately forty percent ($\psi = 0.41$) and *F. abacura* fifty percent ($\psi = 0.52$) of wetlands. The species with the lowest occupancy estimate pre-drought was *R. rigida* ($\psi = 0.10$).

Post-drought occupancy was generally lower than pre-drought, ranging from $\psi = 0.05$ -0.63 across species. Both *Nerodia* species suffered reductions in occupancy whereas all other species

did not change. *Nerodia floridana* and *N. fasciata* experienced almost identical absolute reductions in occupancy (*N. floridana*: pre-drought $\psi = 0.32$; post $\psi = 0.05$; $\Delta = -0.27$; *N. fasciata*: pre-drought $\psi = 0.95$; post psi: 0.69; $\Delta = -0.26$). However, relative to pre-drought, *N. fasciata* suffered a net reduction in occupancy of only 29%, whereas *N. floridana* was nearly locally extirpated, with a net 84% reduction in occupancy. In fact, *N. floridana* was only detected in one wetland post-drought. Significant reductions in occupancy were not observed for *F. abacura, S. pygaea*, or *R. rigida* (Fig. 2a). Detectability (*p*) decreased by approximately 50% for *N. fasciata* (pre-drought: 0.69; post: 0.33), by approximately 40% for *S. pygaea* (pre-drought: 0.57, post-drought: 0.35), and by 70% for *R. rigida* (pre-drought: 0.48, post-drought: 0.14) (Fig. 2b). *Farancia abacura* and *N. floridana* experienced no change in detectability associated with drought.

Although our occupancy analyses lacked the sample size needed to detect strong covariate relationships, examination of raw capture rates of our three most common species in relation to wetland characteristics can provide information on wetland and landscape factors that may mediate the effects of drought (Fig. 3). Prior to drought, the wetlands with the highest capture rates of *S. pygaea* were moderately permanent and closer to the Savannah River floodplain (Fig. 3c, d). *Nerodia fasciata* was captured in nearly every wetland, but wetlands with the highest capture rates were moderate or less permanent and farther from the floodplain (Fig. 3a, b). Wetlands with the highest capture rates of *N. floridana* were relatively permanent and farther from the floodplain, (Fig. 3e, f). Capture rates of all three species, decreased following drought. *Nerodia fasciata* suffered the greatest reductions in capture rate at hydrologic extremes. Alternatively, *S. pygaea* was never found in extremely permanent or ephemeral wetlands predrought and therefore only suffered reductions in capture rate in wetlands of moderate

permanence. *Nerodia floridana* disappeared from all but one permanent wetland after the drought, but even at this wetland, capture rates were reduced by nearly 50%.

E. Discussion

We found interspecific variation in effects of drought on occupancy and detectability of semi-aquatic snake species. Specifically, the two Nerodia species suffered drought-induced declines in distribution and N. floridana was nearly extirpated from isolated wetlands across the landscape. Three species, Seminatrix pygaea, Regina rigida and Farancia abacura did not decline significantly in the estimated proportion of wetlands occupied across the landscape. Nerodia fasciata, S. pygaea, and R. rigida suffered declines in detectability. Pre-drought covariate effects on abundance and detectability were weak for all species, but snake capture rates plotted against wetland permanence and distance to floodplain showed a decline in relative abundance of *N. fasciata*, *S. pygaea*, and *N. floridana* across the study area. Wetlands with the highest abundances of S. pygaea were moderately permanent wetlands and closer to the river floodplain, whereas N. fasciata declined the most severely in the wetlands at the extremes of the hydrologic gradient. Nerodia floridana was extirpated from all but the most permanent wetland due to drought. Our results provide a unique example of how drought can influence the community composition, distribution, and relative abundance of important reptilian predators in isolated wetland ecosystems.

Estimated occupancy of *S. pygaea* was not affected by drought, a remarkable parallel to results of long-term population studies at Ellenton Bay; a ten hectare isolated wetland within our study site. For example, in the spring before a supra-seasonal drought, ~5.5 individual *S. pygaea* were captured per 100 trap nights and > 6 individuals were captured the spring following the

drought, nearly 2.5 years later (Winne, 2008; Winne et al., 2006). More detailed data for Ellenton Bay suggest that this drought resilience is due to the ability of S. pygaea to aestivate within the dried wetland during prolonged drought, and subsequently capitalize on high productivity once the wetland refills (Winne et al., 2006). However, our study did find that detectability was reduced after drought, suggesting some effect of drought on S. pygaea abundance. We expect that this reduction is a result of drought-induced mortality, as indicated by a lack of large individuals of both sexes (>325 mm) after drought in 2003 (Winne et al., 2010). These large individuals likely starved due to their higher absolute metabolic rates and energy requirements than smaller individuals (Winne et al., 2010). Although larger individuals may perish during drought, our results suggest that this mortality is of minor significance to persistence of populations, given that overall occupancy rates of S. pygaea did not change during drought. Alternatively, emigration could explain the slight reduction in detectability that we observed; other studies have suggested that individuals emigrate from drying wetlands (Dodd, 1993; Seigel et al., 1995). However, other studies suggest terrestrial dispersal is physiologically demanding and unlikely for S. pygaea, especially for adults (Winne et al., 2001; Gibbons & Dorcas, 2004). Thus, our results confirm that S. pygaea is remarkably drought resilient, likely due to strategies like aestivation that enable most individuals to survive and occupy isolated wetlands across the landscape throughout the entire drought duration.

Similar to *S. pygaea*, *R. rigida* did not experience reductions in occupancy during drought. We know little about the ecology and life history of *R. rigida*, which is perceived to be the rarest of our focal species; very little scientific literature has been published about them (Gibbons & Dorcas, 2004). Durso et al. (2011) found that *R. rigida* had higher occupancy in wetlands closer to the Savannah River floodplain containing crayfish; a relationship that stands

in our post-drought analysis. One hypothesis for the resilience of *R. rigida* to drought could be found in its close taxonomic relationship with S. pygaea (Pyron et al., 2013), which may suggest that *R. rigida* could also aestivate during drought. However, although perceived as highly aquatic, there are five published accounts of terrestrial activity in *R. rigida*, including individuals found up to 470 m from water (Steen et al., 2011). Thus, R. rigida may be more terrestrial than we think. Migration to the Savannah River floodplain, an unlikely scenario for S. pygaea due to desiccation risk (Winne et al., 2001) and lack of preferred food (A. talpoideum) in the floodplain, seems more likely for *R. rigida. Regina rigida* grows to a larger maximum body size than *S.* pygaea, and thus potentially has a higher capacity for terrestrial locomotion. The floodplain swamp also holds abundant populations of their preferred prey (crayfish) and its preference for wetlands close to the floodplain means that for most populations, migration to the floodplain would be comparatively shorter than for species that are more widely distributed across the landscape. Although difficult to decipher, we believe R. rigida likely relies on the Savannah River floodplain as refugia habitat from isolated wetlands during time of drought. Movement out of isolated wetlands and into the floodplain during drought would also explain the post-drought reduction in detectability we observed for this species.

Another species that is difficult to interpret due to lack of ecological knowledge is *F*. *abacura*. Its dietary preference for giant salamanders (*Siren/Amphiuma*) results in higher abundance in more permanent wetlands that can sustain populations of these highly-aquatic prey (Durso et al., 2011). More permanent wetlands are less likely to dry completely during drought, which could explain the lack of drought effects on either occupancy or detection probability for *F. abacura*. Additionally, *Farancia abacura* has been reported to aestivate within or near dried wetlands, similar to *S. pygaea* (Willson et al., 2006). Although reports of aestivation are

anecdotal, there is substantial evidence for long-distance terrestrial movements in *F. abacura*, and it is likely that terrestrial movements are an important component of their life history (Steen et al., 2013). At least short distance migration from drying wetlands during drought has been documented, but sample sizes are small (Seigel et al., 1995; Martin, 1998; Willson et al., 2006). Since *F. abacura* is known to hibernate terrestrially, it seems likely they would also employ terrestrial aestivation, if needed. Regardless of whether *F. abacura* aestivate, migrate, or use a combination of the two, they appear to be relatively unaffected by supra-seasonal drought.

Unlike the previous species, Nerodia fasciata experienced declines in both occupancy and detectability during the supraseasonal drought; specifically, a ~30% reduction of occupied wetlands and \sim 50% reduction in mean detectability. This agrees with patterns documented at Ellenton Bay, where relative abundance using minnow traps was substantially reduced from ~4 individuals per 100 trap-nights before drought (spring 1998), to zero individuals captured in minnow traps following the supra-seasonal drought in spring 2003 (Winne, 2008). Although Seigel et al. (1995), suggested that *N. fasciata* emigrate in the direction of aquatic habitats during drying, very few *N. fasciata* immigrated back to the wetland after it refilled in 2003. This suggests high mortality during drought or failure of snakes to make the return journey (Willson et al., 2006). It is possible that *N. fasciata* migrate to permanent habitats like the Savannah River floodplain or larger creeks and remain there permanently. However, many of the wetlands we sampled were at least 1 km from permanent water; presenting a challenging journey for a species with a known maximum terrestrial dispersal of ~3 km (Luhring et al., 2011). Whatever the mechanisms, we conclude that drought causes significant declines in distribution and abundance of N. fasciata across the landscape.

Although *N. fasciata* are strongly affected by drought, they appear to be able to rapidly recolonize and repopulate once water-levels return to normal, a common characteristic of resilience strategists (Bond et al., 2008). For example, only a few individuals were found entering Ellenton Bay as the wetland refilled after a previous supraseasonal drought (Willson et al., 2006), but their relative abundance returned to pre-drought levels within 2.5 years (Winne, 2008). This rapid repopulation may be facilitated indirectly by the drought itself. For example, annual or periodic drying of wetlands prevents establishment of fish, producing highly suitable conditions for explosive growth of amphibian populations (Semlitsch & Brodie, 1998; Gibbons et al., 2006). This productivity results in abundant high-quality prey for *N. fasciata* (Willson & Hopkins, 2011), which fuels rapid growth, high reproductive output, and fast recovery of populations (Winne, 2008). Although *N. fasciata* inhabit these less permanent wetlands, their populations there are highly variable over time in concordance with drought. Thus, increased drought frequency could eventually cross a threshold, resulting in sustained low abundance and restricted distribution across the landscape.

Our study corroborates data from two historical drought events in demonstrating that *N*. *floridana* are strongly affected by supra-seasonal drought. Prior to a supra-seasonal drought in 1985, *N. floridana* were fairly common within Ellenton Bay, nearly twice as abundant as *N. fasciata* (Seigel et al., 1995). The bay dried entirely in 1988 and *N. floridana* were no longer detectable. The drought ended and the bay refilled in 1990 but *N. floridana* were not detected until five years later (1993; Seigel et al., 1995). Sampling in 1998 found *N. floridana* to still remain in the bay, but at low abundances (~1 individual per 100 trap-nights; Winne, 2008). In 1999 a supra-seasonal drought again dried Ellenton bay until 2002. Post-drought, *N. floridana* was again absent from the bay; despite intense sampling effort, they were not detected again until

the third year after drought (2005; Winne, 2008). The last time *N. floridana* was captured in Ellenton bay was summer 2006, just before the supra-seasonal drought that lasted through 2012 and which is the focus of this study. Focusing at the landscape scale, we also found that *N. floridana* was strongly affected by drought. Pre-drought occupancy estimates were low ($\psi =$ 0.32), but detectability was moderate overall (p = 0.44), with some wetlands containing high abundances. Post-drought occupancy dropped by >80% and *N. floridana* was nearly extirpated from isolated wetlands across the landscape ($\psi = 0.05$). However *N. floridana* retained relatively high abundances within the one wetland where they remained (p = 0.59).

There are several possible factors that could explain the sensitivity of *N. floridana* to drought. Most *N. floridana* fail to emigrate from drying wetlands, especially in comparison to *N. fasciata* (Seigel et al., 1995; Willson et al., 2006). For example, of over nine years of monitoring a drift fence surrounding Ellenton bay, 359 *N. fasciata* were captured entering or exiting the bay. Only nine *N. floridana* were captured entering or leaving during that same time period, despite relatively high numbers of resident *N. floridana* within the bay (Seigel et al., 1995; Winne, 2008). The lack of dispersing *N. floridana*, especially before and after drought periods, suggests that this species may be averse to overland dispersal, possibly because the risks of leaving the wetland may be greater than remaining. This risk may be influenced by physiological characteristics such as high metabolic or evaporative water loss rates that make this species prone to desiccation. Remaining within the wetland during drought may be a successful strategy, especially if water and energy stores can outlast drought duration. For example, although Ellenton bay dried temporarily during the minor droughts of 1985 and 1987 (Fig. 1), *N. floridana* abundances remained high. However, multi-year supra-seasonal droughts may outlast this

species' ability to withstand unfavorable conditions. Further research is needed to understand mechanisms that may influence the lack of dispersal and drought sensitivity of *N. floridana*.

Reliance on permanent aquatic habitat also influences the drought sensitivity of *N*. *floridana*. Before drought, we found *N*. *floridana* to be present in multiple moderate to permanent isolated wetlands, but they persisted in only one very permanent wetland at relatively high abundances. Therefore, very permanent bodies of water may act as refugia for *N*. *floridana* during drought. Refugia habitats are essential to drought survival for many species (Magoulick & Kobza, 2003) and may serve as source populations that facilitate population growth and recolonization of other wetlands after drought (Adams & Warren, 2005; Arthington et al., 2005). Alternatively, dynamic isolated wetlands that remain dry for a considerable time, may act as population sinks, where mortality during drought is high and habitat must be later repopulated via immigration (Dias, 1996). Supra-seasonal drought therefore, has the potential to eliminate *N*. *floridana* from isolated wetlands across the landscape while the most permanent wetlands, ponds, or lakes allow them to persist.

Although supra-seasonal drought is becoming increasingly common, especially in areas such as the Southeastern United States (Trenberth et al., 2007), very little is known about its ecological consequences (Bond et al., 2008) and implications for vertebrate community dynamics. Current distribution and evolution of aquatic vertebrates have been dramatically shaped by historic droughts (Douglas et al., 2003; Tarboton, 1995) and drought has resulted in extinction of approximately eight aquatic or semi-aquatic species worldwide (Cahill et al., 2012). Within North America, the Southeastern United States has the highest reptile species richness (Ricketts et al., 1999) but is also predicted to experience increases in drought frequency and
intensity (Trenberth et al., 2007). Population-level impacts of drought have been documented for other taxa such as fish (e.g., Larimore et al., 1959; Trape, 2009), invertebrates (e.g. Hynes, 1958; Harrison, 2000) and birds (Cahill et al., 2012). For snakes, sea krait (*Laticauda spp.*) abundance was found to correlate with precipitation during drought (Lillywhite & Tu, 2011) and Sperry and Weatherhead (2008) found that drought reduced prey abundance, body condition, and survival of black ratsnakes (*Elaphe obsoleta*). Our study reveals that supra-seasonal drought impacts the distribution and abundance of some semi-aquatic snake species.

The extirpation or reduction of semi-aquatic snakes from isolated wetlands due to drought could have direct and indirect impacts on ecosystem dynamics. Snakes are often abundant in isolated wetlands and can play an important role as secondary or tertiary predators. For example, *N. fasciata* and *S. pygaea* reached peak densities of 171 snakes ha⁻¹ of wetland habitat and combined were estimated to consume over 200 kg of amphibian prey annually in Ellenton Bay (Willson & Winne, 2016). Similarly, adult *Regina alleni* (striped crayfish snake) were estimated to consume ~10% of the crayfish population while neonates consumed >90% of the odonate population (Godley, 1980). Thus, the extirpation or reduction of snake predators in wetlands could alter abundance of prey species or the trophic structure of wetland food webs. Further, snakes could play a keystone predator role by prohibiting some species from becoming too abundant and competitively excluding other species (e.g. Jaeger, 1971). It is unknown what role snakes play as prey for higher trophic levels, although known predators like wading birds (Mushinsky, 1993), may need to shift to alternative prey resources. Ultimately, reductions in snake abundance and species richness have the potential to change dynamic ecosystem processes within isolated wetlands.

Supra-seasonal droughts may present greater risks for species and biodiversity than "normal", shorter duration droughts. Likely, severe drought is positively correlated with longer recovery time of ecosystem process, longer population recoveries, and increased probability of species extinctions (Lake, 2003). But if duration and intensity of drought increase extinction rates, and long-term droughts are becoming more common, what can be done to mitigate drought effects on biodiversity? Mitigating or managing drought effects is difficult, since droughts often span large spatial and temporal scales, and are unpredictable in timing and severity (Bond et al., 2008). One strategy is the development of long-term management plans to avoid overuse of water resources (Bond et al., 2008) that affect isolated wetlands and other aquatic habitats. Alternatively, since semi-aquatic snake species are diverse in regards to how they use a gradient of wetlands with varying hydroperiods and degrees of isolation, maintaining a large number of diverse wetland types across the landscape is likely critical to maintaining diverse communities of snakes (Roe et al., 2004) and other semi-aquatic biota. If necessary, construction of artificial wetlands could be used to mitigate wetland loss and achieve a landscape with sufficient connectivity to sustain metapopulation or source-sink dynamics. Likewise, providing high quality habitat corridors and avoiding barriers between wetlands would facilitate dispersal between wetlands.

This research provides robust support that interspecific variation in drought sensitivity observed within a single aquatic snake community (Ellenton Bay), translates to a landscapescale. We found that snake species vary in their ability to withstand drought, a fact that likely applies to a broad range of semi-aquatic species. Why species vary differentially is unknown, and should be the priority of future research in order to identify important behavioral or physiological characteristics that mediate drought responses. Knowledge of these mechanisms will help better predict large scale shifts in distribution and abundance likely to occur as a result of climate change.

F. References

- Adams, S. B. & Warren, M. L. (2005). Recolonization by warmwater fishes and crayfishes after severe drought in upper coastal plain hill streams. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 134, 1173–1192.
- Akaike, H. (1998). Information theory and an extension of the maximum likelihood principle. *Selected Papers of Hirotugu Akaike*. Springer New York, 199-213.
- Allen, C. D., Macalady, A. K., Chenchouni, H., Bachelet, D., McDowell, N., Vennetier, M., & Gonzalez, P. (2010). A global overview of drought and heat-induced tree mortality reveals emerging climate change risks for forests. *Forest ecology and management*, 259, 660-684.
- Arthington, A. H., Balcombe, S. R., Wilson, G. A., Thoms, M. C. & Marshall, J. (2005). Spatial and temporal variation in fish-assemblage structure in isolated waterholes during the 2001 dry season of an arid-zone floodplain river, Cooper Creek, Australia. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 56, 25–35.
- Barnosky, A. D., Matzke, N., Tomiva, S., Wogan, G. O. U., Swatz, B., Quental, T. B., ... Ferrer, E. A. 2011. Has the Earth's sixth mass extinction already arrived?. *Nature*, 471, 51-57.
- Bigler, C., Kulakowski, D., & Veblen, T. T. (2005). Multiple disturbance interactions and drought influence fire severity in Rocky Mountain subalpine forests. *Ecology*, 86, 3018-3029.
- Bond, N. R., Lake, P. S., &. Arthington, A. H. (2008). The impacts of drought on freshwater ecosystems: an Australian perspective. *Hydrobiologia*, 600, 3-16.
- Brown, J. H., Valone, T. J., & Curtin, C. G. (1997). Reorganization of an arid ecosystem in response to recent climate change. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 94, 9729-9733.

- Burnham, K. P., & Anderson, D. R. (2002). *Model selection and multimodel inference: a practical information-theoretic approach*. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Cahill, A. E., Aiello-Lammens, M. E., Fisher-Reid, M. C., Hua, X., Karanewsky, C. J., Ryu, H. Y., ... Wiens, J. J. (2012). How does climate change cause extinction? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*. 280.
- Chen, C. I., Hill, J. K., Ohlemüller, R., Roy, D. B., & Thomas, C. D. (2011). Rapid range shifts of species associated with high levels of climate warming. *Science*, 333, 1024-1026.
- Clarke, K. R., & Gorley, R. N. (2006). PRIMER v6 [Computer Software]. United Kingdom.
- Dias, P. C. (1996). Sources and sinks in population biology. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 11, 326-330.
- Douglas, M. R., Brunner, P. C., & Douglas, M. E. (2003). Drought in an evolutionary context: molecular variability in Flannelmouth Sucker (*Catostomus latipinnis*) from the Colorado River Basin of western North America. *Freshwater Biology*, 48, 1254-1273.
- Duda, J. J., Krzysik, A. J., & Freilich, J. E. (1999). Effects of drought on desert tortoise movement and activity. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 63, 1181-1192.
- Dukes J. S., & Mooney, H. A. (1999). Does global change increase the success of biological invaders?. Trends In Ecology and Evolution, 14, 135–139.
- Durso, A. M., Willson, J. D., & Winne, C. T. (2013). Habitat influences diet overlap in aquatic snake assemblages. *Journal of Zoology*, 291, 185-193.
- Durso, A. M., Willson, J. D., & Winne, C. T. (2011). Needles in haystacks: Estimating detection probability and occupancy of rare and cryptic snakes. *Biological Conservation*, 144, 1508-1515.

- Gibbons, J. W., & Dorcas, M. E. (2004). *North American watersnakes: a natural history*. Vol. 8. Norman, Oklahoma: University of Oklahoma Press.
- Gibbons, J. W., Winne, C. T., Scott, D. E., Willson, J. D., Glaudas, X., & Andrews, K. M... Rothermel, B. B. (2006). Remarkable amphibian biomass and abundance in an isolated wetland: implications for wetland conservation. *Conservation Biology*, 20, 1457–1465.
- Godley, J. S. (1980). Foraging ecology of the striped swamp snake, *Regina alleni*, in southern Florida. *Ecological Monographs*, 50, 411- 436.
- Harrell, F. E. (2001). Regression modeling strategies. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Harrison R. D. (2000). Repercussions of El Niño: drought causes extinction and the breakdown of mutualism in Borneo. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 267, 911–915.
- Hynes, H. B. N. (1958). The effect of drought on the fauna of a small mountain stream in Wales. Verhandlungen der Internationalen Vereinigung f
 ür theoretische und angewandte Limnologie, 8, 826-833.
- Jaeger, R. G. (1971). Competitive exclusion as a factor influencing the distributions of two species of terrestrial salamanders. *Ecology*, 52, 632-637.
- Jury, E. I. (1964). Theory and Applications of the Z-Transform Method. New York: Wiley.
- Knight, D. H. (1987). Parasites, lightning, and the vegetation mosaic in wilderness landscapes. In *Landscape heterogeneity and disturbance*. Springer New York.
- Kock, R. A. (2005). What is this infamous wildlife/livestock disease interface? A review of current knowledge for the African continent." *Conservation and development interventions at the wildlife/livestock interface: implications for wildlife, livestock and human health*, 30, 1-13.

- Lake, P. S. (2003). Ecological Effects of perturbation by drought in flowing waters. *Freshwater Biology*, 48, 1161-1172.
- Larimore, R. W., Childers, W. F., & Heckrotte, C. (1959). Destruction and re-establishment of stream fish and invertebrates affected by drought. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 88, 261-285.
- Lillywhite, H. B., & Tu, M. C. (2011). Abundance of sea kraits correlates with precipitation. *PLoS One*, 6, e28556.
- Luhring T. M., Willson J. D., Winne C. T. (2011) *Nerodia fasciata* (banded watersnake). Interwetland movement. *Herpetological Review*, 42, 100–101.
- MacKenzie, D. I., & Bailey, L. L. (2004). Assessing the fit of site-occupancy models. *Journal of Agricultural, Biological, and Environmental Statistics*, 9, 300-318.
- MacKenzie, D. I., Nichols, J. D., Sutton, N., Kawanishi, K., Bailey, L. L. (2005). Improving inferences in population studies of rare species that are detected imperfectly. *Ecology*, 86, 1101-1113.
- MacKenzie, D. I., ed. Occupancy estimation and modeling: inferring patterns and dynamics of species occurrence. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Academic Press, 2006.
- Magoulick, D. D., & Kobza, R. M. (2003). The role of refugia for fishes during drought: a review and synthesis. *Freshwater biology*, 48, 1186-1198.
- Martin, C. A. (1998). An ecological profile of the western mud snake (*F. abacura reinwardtii*). M. S. thesis. Stephen F. Austin State University.
- Medeiros, M. C., & Freed, L. A. (2009). A fledgling-mass threshold greatly affects juvenile survival in the Hawaii Akepa (*Loxops coccineus coccineus*). *The Auk*, 126, 319-325.

- Meehl, G.A., T. F. Stocker, W. D. Collins, P. Friedlingstein, A. T. Gaye, J. M. Gregory, A. Kitoh, ... Zhao, Z. C. 2007. Global Climate Projections. In: Climate Change 2007: The physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change [Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Chen, Z., Marquis, M., Averyt,... Miller, H. L. (eds)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Mushinsky, H. R., & Miller, D. E. (1993). Predation on water snakes: ontogenetic and interspecific considerations. *Copeia*, 660-665.
- Pough, F. H. (1980). The advantages of ectothermy for tetrapods. *American Naturalist*, 115, 92-112.
- Pounds, J. A., Fogden, M. P. L., & Campbell, J. H. (1999). Biological response to climate change on a tropical mountain. *Nature*, 398, 611-615.
- Pyron, R. A., Burbrink, F. T., & Wiens, J. J. (2013). A phylogeny and revised classification of Squamata, including 4161 species of lizards and snakes. *BMC evolutionary biology*, 13, 1.
- Przeslawski, R., Davis, A. R., & Benkendorff, K. (2005). Synergistic effects associated with climate change and the development of rocky shore molluscs. *Global Change Biology*, 11, 515-522.
- Rhind, S. G., & Bradley, J. S. (2002). The effect of drought on body size, growth and abundance of wild brush-tailed phascogales (*Phascogale tapoatafa*) in south-western Australia. *Wildlife Research*, 29, 235-245.
- Ricketts, T. H., Olsen, D. M., & Loucks, C. (1999). Who's where in North America? Patterns of species richness and the utility of indicator taxa for conservation. *Bioscience*, 49, 369-381.
- Roe, J. H., Kingsbury, B. A., & Herbert, N. R. (2004). Comparative water snake ecology: conservation of mobile animals that use temporally dynamic resources. *Biological Conservation*, 118, 79-89.

- Seabrook, L., McAlpine, C., Baxter, G., Rhodes, J., Bradley, A., & Lunny, D. (2011). Droughtdriven change in wildlife distribution and numbers: a case study of koalas in south west Queensland. *Wildlife Research*, 38, 509-524.
- Seigel, R. A., Gibbons, J. W., & Lynch, T K. (1995). Temporal changes in reptile populations: effects of a severe drought on aquatic snakes. *Herpetologica*, 51, 424-434.
- Semlitsch, R. D., & Bodie, J. R. (1998). Are small, isolated wetlands expendable?. Conservation Biology, 12, 1129-1133.
- Sperry, J. H., & Weatherhead, P. J. (2008). Prey-mediated effects of drought on condition and survival of a terrestrial snake. *Ecology*, 89, 2770-2776.
- Steen, D. A., Stiles, J. A., Stiles, S. H., Guyer, C., Pierce, J. B., Rudolph, D. C., & Smith, L. L. (2011). *Regina rigida* (glossy crayfish snake). *Herpetological Review*, 42, 102.
- Steen, D. A., Stevenson, D. J., Beane, J. C., Willson, J. D., Aresco, M. J., Godwin, J. C... Guyer, C. (2013). Terrestrial movements of the red-bellied mudsnake (*Farancia abacura*) and rainbow snake (*F. erytrogramma*). *Herpetological Review*, 44, 208–213.
- Tarboton, D. G. (1995). Hydrologic scenarios for sever sustained drought in the southwestern United States. *Journal of American Water Resources Association*, 31, 803-813.
- Thomas, C. D., Cameron, A., Green, R. E., Bakkenes, M., Beaumont, L. J., Collingham, Y. C., ... Williams, S. E. (2004). Extinction risk from climate change. *Nature*, 427, 145-148.

Thompson, S. K., & Seber, G. A. F. (1996). Adaptive sampling. New York: John Wiley & Sons.

Tilman, D., May, R. M., Lehman, C. L., & Nowak, M. A. (1994). Habitat destruction and the extinction debt. *Nature*, 371, 65-66.

- Trape, S. (2009). Impact of climate change on the relict tropical fish fauna of Central Sahara: threat for the survival of Adrar mountains fishes, Mauritania. *Plos one*, *4*, e4400.
- Trenberth, K. E., Jones, P. D., Ambenje, P., Bojariu, R., Easterling, D., Klein, T. A., ... Zhai, P. (2007) Observations: Surface and atmospheric climate change. In: Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Chen, Z., and others (eds) Climate change 2007. The physical science basis. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Fourth Assessment report. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, UK, New York, NY, USA.
- Trenberth, K. E. (2011). Changes in precipitation with climate change. *Climate Research* 47, 123.
- Walther, G. R., Post, E., Convey, P., Menzel, A., Parmesan, C., Beebee, T. J., & Bairlein, F. (2002). Ecological responses to recent climate change. *Nature*, 416, 389-395.
- Walther, G. R. (2010). Community and ecosystem responses to recent climate change. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London: Biological Sciences*, 365, 2019-2024.
- White, G. C., Burnham, K. P., & Anderson, D. R. (2001). Advanced features of program MARK. Wildlife, land, and people: priorities for the 21st century. Proceedings of the second international wildlife management congress. The Wildlife Society, Bethesda, Maryland, USA.
- Willson, J. D., Winne, C. T., Dorcas, M. E., & Gibbons, J. W. (2006). Post-drought responses of semi-aquatic snakes inhabiting an isolated wetland: insights on different strategies for persistence in a dynamic habitat. *Wetlands*, 26, 1071-1078.
- Willson, J. D., Winne, C. T., and Keck, M. B. (2008). Empirical tests of biased body size distributions in aquatic snake captures. *Copeia*, 401-408.
- Willson, J. D., & Hopkins, W. A. (2011). Prey morphology constrains the feeding ecology of an aquatic generalist predator. *Ecology*, 92, 744-754.

- Willson, J. D., & Winne, C. T. (2016). The predatory role of aquatic snakes in isolated wetlands: A case study evaluating functional roles of secretive species. *Journal of Zoology*, 298, 266-273.
- Winne, C. T., Ryan, T. J., Leiden, Y. & Dorcas, M. E. (2001). Evaporative water loss in two natricine snakes, *Nerodia fasciata* and *Seminatrix pygaea*. *Journal of Herpetology*, 35, 129-133.
- Winne, C. T., Willson, J. D., & Gibbons, J. W. (2006). Income breeding allows an aquatic snake Seminatrix pygaea to reproduce normally following prolonged drought-induced aestivation. Journal of Animal Ecology, 75, 1352-1360.
- Winne, C. T. (2008). Seminatrix pygaea, a model of ecological resilience in dynamic habitats. PhD thesis, University of Georgia.
- Winne, C. T., Willson, J. D., & Gibbons, J. W. (2010). Drought survival and reproduction impose contrasting selection pressures on maximum body size and sexual size dimorphism in a snake, *Seminatrix pygaea*. *Oecologia*, 162, 913-922.
- Yang, L. H., & Rudolf, V. H. W. (2010). Phenology, ontogeny and the effects of climate change on the timing of species interactions. *Ecology Letters*, 13, 1-10.

G. Acknowledgements

This material is based upon work supported by the Department of Energy Office of Environmental Management under Award Number DE-FCO9-07SR22506. I would like to sincerely thank the University of Arkansas for support and funding, and the Savannah River Ecology Laboratory (SREL) for hosting me and providing logistical support. I would like to thank Tracey Tuberville for graciously hosting and incorporating me into her lab at SREL. Whit Gibbons, Brett DeGregorio, Stacey Lance and Mark and Joy Vukovich were cornerstones of motivation and encouragement. I would like to thank Caitlin Rumrill, and Becca Phillips, for their fantastic hospitality and logistical support. Finally I would like to thank the following for their generous field and logistical support: Brian Metts, Sean Poppy, Melissa Pilgrim, Kimberly Andrews, Gregory Skupien, Clay Noss, Mike Epperly, Wes Flynn, Cara Love, Joseph Colbert, Andrew Cronin, Matt Atkinson, David Scott, and Angela Lindell.

H. Tables

Table 1. Model selection using AIC for 16 candidate models displaying weights (W_i) for five species of semi-aquatic snakes, pre and post-drought. Models with < 2 AIC values were considered as supported top models and are indicated in bold.

					Pre-drought (2006) Pos			st-drought (2013)		
	1	erodia	asciata prodia S	loridan eminatr	a pysat tx pysat arancia R	abacure abacure egina rig	ida rodia fo	sciata prodia f	oridana ninatrix	Pyseed poncie abacura poncie abacura poncie abacura
Model	\mathbf{W}_{i}	W_i	W_i	W_i	W_i	W_i	$\mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{i}}$	W_i	W_i	W _i
$\psi(.), p\left(\mathrm{E}^*\right)$	0.12	0.14	0.09	0.44	0.15	0.01	0.14	0.20	0.39	0.01
$\psi(.), p(\text{C1,E*})$	0.18	0.23	0.21	0.09	0.04	0.00	0.12	0.21	0.10	0.02
$\psi(.), p(\text{C2,E*})$	0.03	0.05	0.14	0.11	0.01	0.01	0.07	0.05	0.12	0.01
$\psi(.), p(\mathrm{C1,C2E^*})$	0.03	0.07	0.24	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.04	0.02	0.01
$\psi(\text{C1}), p\left(\text{E}^*\right)$	0.03	0.03	0.05	0.13	0.01	0.00	0.04	0.05	0.12	0.01
ψ (C1), p (C1,E*)	0.03	0.18	0.03	0.03	0.19	0.63	0.12	0.16	0.03	0.00
ψ (C1), p (C2,E*)	0.00	0.01	0.06	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.12	0.01	0.03	0.00
ψ (C1), p (C1,C2,E*)	0.00	0.03	0.03	0.00	0.04	0.18	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.00
$\psi(C2), p(E^*)$	0.05	0.04	0.02	0.09	0.15	0.00	0.04	0.06	0.10	0.11
ψ (C2), p (C1E*)	0.06	0.04	0.04	0.02	0.03	0.00	0.12	0.06	0.02	0.00
ψ (C2), <i>p</i> (C2,E*)	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.01	0.12	0.01	0.02	0.66
ψ (C2), p (C1,C2,E*)	0.01	0.01	0.04	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.01	0.00	0.11
ψ (C1C2), <i>p</i> (E*)	0.21	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.27	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.03	0.01
ψ (C1C2), p (C1,E*)	0.19	0.14	0.01	0.00	0.03	0.10	0.02	0.06	0.01	0.00
$\psi(\text{C1C2}), p\left(\text{C2,E*}\right)$	0.03	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.04	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.01	0.02
ψ (C1C2), p (C1,C2,E*)	0.02	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01

Table 2. Principal component analysis results reduced seven site covariates into two composite variables: Component one (C1) was negatively correlated with wetland permanence, fish abundance, and giant salamander abundance, and positively correlated with *A. talpoideum* abundance and change in abundance of fish. Component two (C2) was negatively correlated with proximity to the Savannah River floodplain (SRF) and *A. talpoidium* abundance, and positively correlated with crayfish abundance. Change in fish abundance was the difference between 2013 and 2006 fish abundance and was a representation of each wetlands degree of hydrologic change.

	PC		
	C1	C2	
Eigenvalues	2.98	1.39	
%Variation	42.3	19.7	
	Corre	lation	
Variable	C1	C2	
Permanence	-0.438	-0.23	
Distance to SRF	-0.061	-0.636	
Fish abundance	-0.511	0.159	
Crayfish abundance	0.244	0.633	
Ambystoma talpoidium abundance	0.339	-0.28	
Giant Salamander abundance	-0.307	0.073	
Change in Fish abundnace	0.524	-0.181	

I. Figure Legends

Figure 1. Water depth (cm) readings from 1975 to 2015 at Ellenton Bay, a precipitation driven isolated wetland in the Upper Coastal Plain of South Carolina. Supraseasonal droughts are indicated with arrows in 1987-1990, 2000-2003, and 2007-2012. The focus of this study is the supraseasonal drought from 2007-2012.

Figure 2. Single season, null model a) occupancy (ψ) and b) detection (*p*) probability estimates for from pre-drought 2006 (grey bars) and post drought 2013 (open bars) for fives species of semi-aquatic snakes across 20 wetlands in South Carolina. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.

Figure 3. The number of snake captures per 100 minnow trap nights in relation to wetland permanence or distance from the Savannah River floodplain for three species of semi-aquatic snakes: *Nerodia fasciata* (a, b), *Nerodia floridana* (c,d) and, *Seminatrix pygaea* (e,f). Each point represents capture rate at one of the twenty wetlands sampled in 2006 (open circles) and 2013 (filled circles).

J. Figures

Figure 1.











III. MECHANISMS THAT MEDIATE VARIATION IN RESPONSES OF SEMI-AQUAIC SNAKES TO DROUGHT: EVAPORATIVE MASS LOSS AND LOCOMOTION

A. Abstract

Understanding traits that drive species' responses to environmental variation is a critical component of understanding, predicting, and mitigating populations threated by climate change and other anthropogenic alterations to the environment. Physiological characteristics such as evaporative mass loss (EML; the rate of water and product lost through respiratory, cutaneous and ocular pathways) and locomotor performance, may mediate behavior and survival of semiaquatic snakes faced with supra-seasonal drought. We measured rate of EML for five sympatric semi-aquatic snake species; and 2) locomotor endurance (total distance, total time, and speed traveled before exhaustion in aquatic habitats and in hydrated and dehydrated states in terrestrial habitats) using four species. We found that for EML, species grouped into three categories that did not follow taxonomic relationships. The smallest of our study species, S. pygaea had the highest rate of EML of any species after accounting for body size. Both N. floridana and F. abacura grouped into the moderate category, while N. fasciata and R. rigida lost mass at the slowest rates. Species also varied in their ability and willingness to move over land, suggesting that some species may be more willing or able to make terrestrial overland movements in response to environmental variation. Our results identify important mechanisms that may underpin variable responses of semi-aquatic snakes to environmental variation and better inform our understanding of species ecologies. In particular, the apparent sensitivity of N. floridana to drought may be driven in part by its unexpectedly high rate of EWL and reluctance to move terrestrially. This information has direct implications for future management and research, as anthropogenic impacts on environment and climatic change continue to accelerate.

B. Introduction

Stochastic environmental variation is a natural phenomenon that influences nearly every aspect of ecology, including biotic interactions (Chesson, 1986), population dynamics, life history, and community structure (Schlosser, 1990). Environmental variation drives adaptation in a wide variety of organisms by not only creating disturbances that impose natural selection, but also by facilitating the exchange of genetic variation through dispersal, that may improve the ability to resist future perturbation (Garant et al., 2007; Perron et al., 2008). One of the most important aspects of environmental variation that can occur across a landscape is the amount and frequency of available precipitation. By distributing water that is essential for sustained life, precipitation is one of the primary drivers of environmental gradients. For example, rainfall is an important factor limiting forest species distributions in Africa (Swaine, 1996). However, precipitation patterns have undergone changes both spatially and temporally. For example, over the last 100 years, annual precipitation has increased across most of North America (Trenberth et al., 2007), but in the Southeastern United States, despite increases in heavy precipitation events, decreases in annual precipitation of 1-2% per decade have been recorded (Trenberth et al., 2007).

A direct outcome of variation in precipitation are shifts in hydroperiod of aquatic habitats. Many seasonal wetlands are completely isolated from surface water, are filled by precipitation, and are emptied primarily by evapotranspiration (Sharitz, 2003). When full, isolated wetlands support high levels of biodiversity and exceptional secondary productivity, especially for amphibians (Semlitsch, 1998; Gibbons et al., 2006). For example, drying of aquatic ecosystems can reduce predator populations (e.g., Ruiz-Olmo et al., 2001), and rewetting often enhances nutrient availability (Venterink et al., 2002), bolstering primary production (Howarth, 1988) and invertebrate populations that support amphibian larvae (Leeper & Taylor, 1998). However, when dry, isolated wetlands become unproductive and often inhospitable for aquatic species. These dramatic changes in resource availability and habitat suitability are exacerbated by increases in drought frequency and duration (Trenberth et al., 2007). Thus, species inhabiting isolated wetlands may be unable to persist in an increasingly harsh and unpredictable environment unless they possess robust drought-survival adaptions.

Many organisms possess physiological or behavioral adaptations that allow them to persist through environmental variation (Perron et al., 2008). Wetland-dwelling species frequently cope with drought through adaptations that reduce dehydration. As a limiting resource, water plays an important role in cellular osmolarity, waste elimination, and thermoregulation (Morgan, 1984; Hill, 1989; Sawna & Coyle, 1999). Birds and reptiles use osmoregulation to reduce water loss by excreting highly concentrated uric acid (Keilen, 1959), and convert stores of fat to metabolic water (Hill, 1989). Reptiles can undergo compositional changes in lipid barriers within the skin that act as a primary barrier preventing water loss (Lillywhite & Maderson, 1982). Behaviors such as dormancy or aestivation are also common water-conserving adaptations for semi-aquatic species during periods of drought. In particular, inherently low and flexible metabolic rates enable ectotherms to utilize these energy-reducing strategies. For example, Australian eastern long-necked turtles (Chelodina longicollis), are known to aestivate terrestrially by lowering their metabolic rate, thereby limiting water loss (Kennett & Georges, 1990; Chessman, 1978 & 1984). In addition to aestivating, African lungfish (Protopterus spp.), Sirens (Siren spp.), and multiple anuran species excrete layers of mucus that dry to form a cocoon, slowing desiccation (Reno et al., 1972; Greenwood, 1986). Adaptations like these enable organisms to occupy seasonally harsh environments subject to supra-seasonal droughts, without having to abandon them altogether.

Another way species deal with drought is to avoid inhospitable habitats by moving elsewhere. Dispersal is a common adaptation to inhospitable conditions among endotherms, which have high metabolic rates and aerobic capacities conducive to extended strenuous activity (e.g., Rauhamäki et al., 2014). For example, Australian magpie geese (*Anseranas semipalmata*) are so well adapted to frequent drought that unlike many other waterfowl species, they never completely molt their primary feathers, and thus are able to fly to escape drought year-round (Romanowski, 2013). However, for smaller species with lower mobility, like many ectotherms, dispersal may be a more risky endeavor. For example, the highest documented rates of mortality in snakes occur when they travel outside their normal home ranges (Bonnet et al., 1999). Furthermore, water loss and dispersal capability may interact, such that species with high water loss rates may be constrained in their dispersal abilities and be forced to adopt strategies that do not rely on long-distance dispersal. Both directly confronting dehydration and/or moving elsewhere to avoid it are strategies that can have direct implications for the abundance and distribution of wetland-associated species in dynamic environments.

Semi-aquatic snakes offer unique opportunities to investigate variation in adaptations to drought and the implications of that variation for population and community dynamics. Semi-aquatic snakes are often abundant, diverse, serve important functional roles as predators and prey, and remain relatively understudied (Willson & Winne, 2016). Extensive long-term research in South Carolina has revealed that sympatric semi-aquatic snake species exhibit drastically different responses to supra-seasonal droughts. At one wetland, the black swamp snake (*Seminatrix pygaea*) was least effected by drought, responding by aestivating within the wetland (Willson et al., 2006; Winne et al., 2006). In contrast, the banded watersnake (*Nerodia fasciata*) suffered substantial drought induced declines in relative abundance, whereas Florida green

watersnakes (*Nerodia floridana*) became locally extirpated (Willson et al., 2006; Winne, 2008; Seigel et al., 1995). A recent study revealed similar changes in distribution at a landscape scale (Vogrinc and Willson, in prep). Specifically, we documented 30% and 80% reductions in wetland occupancy for *N. fasciata* and *N. floridana*, respectively, following a supra-seasonal drought, whereas *S. pygaea, Farancia abacura* (Red-bellied Mudsnake), and *Regina rigida* (Glossy Crayfish Snake) experienced no significant change in occupancy. Although these studies provided a robust understanding of how species respond to drought at the population level, we lack a basic understanding of the physiological and behavioral mechanisms that drive differential drought responses.

In this study, we investigated two physiological characteristics that may mediate survival and behavior of semi-aquatic snakes faced with supra-seasonal drought, water loss rate and locomotor performance. Specifically, we measured rates of evaporative mass loss (EML; the rate of water and product lost through respiratory, cutaneous and ocular pathways) for five sympatric semi-aquatic snake species; and 2) locomotor endurance (total distance, total time, and average speed traveled before exhaustion in aquatic habitats, and in hydrated and dehydrated states in terrestrial habitats) using four species. We predicted that species would vary in their rates of water loss and locomotor performance, and that these physiological capabilities might relate to documented population and community dynamics related to periodic extreme droughts. For example, we predicted those species that declined the most in relative abundance during drought (*N. fasciata* and *N. floridana*) would have the highest rates of EML. We predicted that hydrated snakes would travel farther terrestrially than dehydrated snakes, and that large species known to disperse long distances (e.g., *N. fasciata* and *F. abacura*) would travel farther terrestrially than smaller species that are rarely encountered out of water (*S. pygaea*). Our results identify

important mechanisms that may underpin variable responses of semi-aquatic snakes to environmental variation. This information has direct implications for future research and management of these understudied species that may be threatened by climatic change and other anthropogenic impacts to the environmental.

C. Methods

Study Site and Aquatic Trapping

We collected semi-aquatic snakes from various aquatic habitats on the Savannah River Site (SRS), in Aiken and Barnwell counties, South Carolina, from May-July, 2014. Snakes were primarily captured using plastic minnow traps (Willson et al., 2005) placed 2-3 m apart in shallow water with 3-5 cm of trap remaining above water level to ensure sufficient air for captured animals. Traps were not baited but incidental captures resulted in natural baiting of traps with fish and amphibians (Keck, 1994), which is attractive to reptilian predators. Traps were checked daily and captured snakes were removed and transported back to the Savannah River Ecology Laboratory (SREL) for processing and experiments.

All captured semi-aquatic snakes were measured (sex, snout-vent length [mm], tail length [mm], body mass [nearest 0.01 g]) and assessed for normal health and condition. Snakes in poor body condition or with open wounds, parasites, or other obvious external abnormalities were excluded from the study. Snakes captured in ecdysis were held until at least one full day after shedding occurred before being used in any experimental trial (Cohen, 1975).

Evaporative Mass Loss

In this study, our use of the term evaporative mass loss (EML) is synonymous with

pulmocutaneous mass loss, which constitutes both water and metabolic gas (O₂, CO₂) lost through cutaneous, respiratory, and ocular pathways, and is commonly expressed as mg lost g⁻¹ body mass h⁻¹ (Mautz, 1982). Our experiment does not differentiate between water loss and metabolic gas loss, however a significant proportion of the observed mass loss is attributable to water evaporation and other studies on snakes have found metabolic gas loss to be negligible over the time scales we consider (e.g., Cohen, 1975; Mautz, 1982).

Experimental methods for EML experiments followed the general procedures of Winne et al. (2001). Snakes were retained for 7-11 days before experimental trials began to ensure that they were postabsorptive, fully hydrated, and in good health (Winne et al., 2001). During this time, snakes were housed communally in polyethylene containers of various sizes in a temperature-controlled animal room (25.5C, 12:12 photoperiod). Containers held 0.5 inches of tap water and crumpled paper towels or hide boxes for cover.

To begin EML trials, each snake was blotted dry with paper towels and massed (nearest 0.01 g on an electronic balance). Each snake was then placed individually within a rectangular steel mesh cage that limited snake activity but allowed for coiling (Winne et al. 2001). Two different cage dimensions were used depending on snake body size (23 cm x 11.5 cm x 12.5 cm, 3.25 mm mesh, for snakes < 300 mm total length; 47.5 cm x 14 cm x 11 cm, 3.25 mm mesh, for snakes > 300 mm total length). Cages containing snakes were then weighed and placed into a lighted reach-in environmental chamber (Percival Scientific Model 1-37LLVL) set at 27°C and 50% relative humidity. Up to 11 individuals were run simultaneously. Cages were removed each hour for six hours and snakes and their associated cages were weighed to the nearest 0.1 gram. Every 15 min for six hours, snakes were observed through the chamber viewing window and

activity level and body position of each snake was assigned a 0-3 score: 0 = "resting" motionless with body overlapped at more than one point and head not elevated; 1 = "slightly active" motionless with head elevated, 2 = "moderately active" moving around but not actively pushing against cage; 3 = "very active" moving around and actively pushing against cage; Winne et al., 2001. Snakes were also monitored for signs of defecation that could confound measurements of EML; any snakes that defecated during the trial were excluded, re-hydrated, and re-tested >24 h later. At the end of the 6 h trial, snakes were either returned to the chamber to continue dehydration in preparation for dehydrated locomotor trials (see below) or removed from their cages and replaced back into their housing units with 0.5 inches of water in order to rehydrate until they regained their original mass.

Locomotion

Following EML measurements, we performed three types of locomotion trials: terrestrial dehydrated, terrestrial hydrated, and aquatic. We used a total sample size of 50 individual snakes of four species: *F. abacura* (n=6), *N. fasciata* (n=11), *N. floridana* (n=14), and *S. pygaea* (n=19). All snakes had been previously used in the EML experiment.

Methods for locomotor performance trials followed the general procedures of Ford and Shuttlesworth (1986) and Seigel et al. (1987) using two circular tracks, terrestrial and aquatic. The terrestrial track was made of a plywood base with an outside circumference of 5.2 m, lined with artificial grass (Astroturf) to provide traction while preventing snakes from burrowing. Aluminum flashing walls 1 m high ensured that large snakes could not escape. An aquatic track of the same dimensions was constructed from a polyurethane (1325 L; 5.2 m circumference) cattle stock tank serving as an outer wall, with a polyurethane swimming pool set inside the tank as the inner wall, weighed down by cinder blocks, and then filled with 2.5 cm of 25°C tap water. The width of both tracks was 40 cm.

All locomotor trials were conducted between 800 and 1800 h in a temperature controlled room at 25°C and each individual snake performed one trial per day. Beginning at a starting line, snakes were individually raced around the track by lightly tapping the tail tip with a soft bristle brush. The snake was then prompted to continuously crawl around the circular track until it no longer responded by advancing forward in response to ten light taps of the tail (Arnold & Bennett, 1988). During the trial, the total number of laps crawled by the snake was recorded and time was measured to the nearest 0.1 sec with a handheld stopwatch. Total distance was calculated by multiplying circumference of the track by the number of laps plus any additional distance moved past the starting point. Any trial in which the snake immediately assumed a defensive position and refused to crawl in response to light tapping was considered unsuccessful and the snake was retested the following day. If the snake continued to assume defensive positions for three consecutive trials, that locomotion trial type was considered complete and that individual snake proceeded to the next trial type the following day.

Snakes were first tested for terrestrial locomotion under dehydrated conditions (90% of hydrated body mass). This allowed dehydrated locomotion trials to be performed immediately after the conclusion of EML experiments. Depending on the size of the snake, some individuals required additional time in the environmental chamber in order to reach the dehydration threshold of 90% of initial body mass (10% body mass lost). If a dehydrated snake was not successful on its first trial, it was allowed to rehydrate for at least 12 h, and then was placed back into the environmental chamber, dehydrated to 90% of hydrated body mass, and re-tested.

Following dehydrated terrestrial trials, snakes were allowed to rehydrate in 1 cm of tap water for 12 h and each snake was weighed to confirm it had returned to approximately its original body mass. They then proceeded to hydrated terrestrial trials, and finally aquatic trials, allowing 24 h between trials. Thus, the entire timeline of experimental trials for each animal lasted between 3 and 13 days, depending on how many trials were not successful. At the termination of the experiment, snakes were returned to their original capture location.

Analyses

Total EML was calculated for each individual snake by subtracting its final mass (after six hours in the environmental chamber) from its initial mass. To compare mass loss among snake species, while accounting for differences in body size, an ANCOVA was performed, with log-transformed total body mass lost (g) as the dependent variable and initial mass (g) as the covariate. A post hoc comparison (Tukey's test) was then used to assess differences among species pairs with a Bonferonni-corrected α of 0.005. A non-parametric Kruskal-Wallace test was used to compare the mean sum of activity scores across individuals among species. A post hoc multiple comparison with a Bonferonni-corrected α of 0.005 was used to assess differences among species pairs. For locomotion, a two-way ANOVA with main effects of species and trial type (terrestrial dehydrated, terrestrial hydrated, and aquatic), plus an interaction, was performed for each of the three dependent variables measured (total time, speed, and total distance). All analyses were performed in R 2.14.2, using the "car" package (Fox, 2011) for ANCOVA and, unless otherwise stated, statistical significance was recognized at $\alpha < 0.05$.

D. Results

Aquatic Trapping

Trapping and one incidental capture yielded a total of 122 semi-aquatic snakes of five species that were suitable for EML experiments. Body size ranges and sample sizes for the five species were as follows: (*Nerodia fasciata*; n = 31, SVL = 234 - 674 mm; *Nerodia floridana* = 22, SVL = 247 - 610 mm; *Seminatrix pygaea* = 34, SVL = 232 - 328 mm; *Farancia abacura* = 22, SVL = 445 - 1096 mm; *Regina rigida* = 13, SVL = 204 - 545 mm.

Evaporative Mass Loss

Absolute rates of evaporative mass loss depended strongly on body size (ANCOVA, initial mass, $F_{4,121}$ = 157.31 p < 0.01) and differed substantially among species (species, $F_{4,121}$ = 7.03, p<0.01), but we detected no species-by-body size interaction ($F_{4,121}$ = 2.09, p = 0.08; Fig 1). Post hoc tests indicated that *N. fasciata* did not differ from *R. rigida* (Tukey's, MS₁₁₂ = 0.01, p = 0.92), but all other species pairs differed significantly from one another (all p < 0.005). Accounting for body size, species fell into three distinct groups, reflecting high, moderate, or low rates of EML. The smallest of our study species, *Seminatrix pygaea* had the highest EML rate of any species, even after correcting for body size. For example, a 300 mm SVL *S. pygaea* lost mass approximately 1.72 and 3.77 times faster than an *N. floridana* and an *N. fasciata* of the same size, respectively. *Nerodia floridana* and *F. abacura* grouped into the moderate category, losing approximately two times more mass than an *N. fasciata* of the same size. The low EML category included *N. fasciata* and *R. rigida* which did not differ in rate of mass loss.

Activity scores differed significantly among species (Kruskal-Wallace Test; df = 4, χ^2 =60.11 p<0.01). Three species, *S. pygaea*, *N. fasciata*, and *N. floridana* exhibited similarly high activity levels [*N. floridana*: mean summed activity score (se) = 41.68 (3.17); *S. pygaea*: 53.23 (2.05); *N. fasciata*: 43.12 (3.7)] and were substantially more active than *F. abacura* and *R. rigida*

that had similarly low activity scores [F. abacura: 12.5 (2.35); R. rigida: 17.53 (2.25)]

Locomotion

Regardless of locomotion trial type, species differed in total time (ANOVA; $F_{3,131}=5.32$, p<0.01), distance ($F_{3,131}=2.81$, p=0.04), and speed ($F_{3,131}=7.91$, p<0.01) prior to exhaustion (Fig 2). Across species, distance ($F_{2,131}=9.44$, p<0.01) and speed ($F_{2,131}=167.66$, p<0.01) differed among locomotion trial types, but total time did not ($F_{2,131}=0.85$, p=0.42). A species-by-trial type interaction was only significant for speed ($F_{6,131}=3.69$, p<0.01). In general, *S. pygaea* and *N. fasciata* performed similarly in aquatic and terrestrial hydrated trials, moving farther and longer than *F. abacura* and *N. floridana*, despite high variation. For all species, individuals swam more quickly than they crawled terrestrially. Terrestrial hydrated trials did not differ from dehydrated trials in speed, total time, or distance, except for *S. pygaea*, which moved shorter distances and times in dehydrated trials than in hydrated trials.

At least a few individuals of all five species displayed persistent defensive behaviors in response to terrestrial locomotion trials, but none showed these behaviors during aquatic trials. *Nerodia floridana* frequently refused to crawl terrestrially (70% of terrestrial trials; Fig 3), instead exhibiting strong defensive responses that included body coiling, striking, and sometimes lunging vigorously. Unlike *N. fasciata*, *N. floridana* would rarely abandon its defensive position and continue crawling. A few individuals of both *F. abacura* and *S. pygaea* curled into a ball in response to the bristle brush stimuli. *Seminatrix pygaea* successfully completed 90% of all trials and *F. abacura* and *N. fasciata* were always successful within three trial attempts across all locomotion trial types.

E. Discussion

We assessed evaporative mass loss (EML) and locomotor performance of sympatric semi-aquatic snake species inhabiting isolated wetlands that are subject to periodic drying. For EML, species grouped into three categories that did not follow taxonomic affinities. The smallest of our study species, *S. pygaea* had the highest rate of EML of any species after accounting for body size. Both *N. floridana* and *F. abacura* grouped into the moderate category, while *N. fasciata* and *R. rigida* lost mass at the slowest rates. Species also varied in their ability and willingness to move over land, suggesting that some species may be more willing or able to make terrestrial overland movements in response to environmental variation than others. Interspecific variation in EML and locomotor performance may be influenced by multiple proximate factors. We discuss these potential mechanisms in an ecological context, specifically how interspecific differences in physiological characteristics relate to observed population trends and conservation implications.

Evaporative Mass Loss

Farancia abacura had the highest absolute rate of water loss of any species and after correcting for body size, fell into the moderate EWL category. We suspect that body morphology contributes strongly to the relatively high water loss rate observed in this species. *Farancia abacura* is long and slender in body morphology, unlike our other species which are all relatively stout. This body form may allow *F. abacura* to consume elongate prey, occupy fossorial burrows, or better maneuver in muddy habitat. However, it results in high surface-area-tovolume-ratio that is positively correlated to water loss (Gans et al., 1968).

After accounting for body size, the EML rate of S. pygaea was at least two times higher

than any other species, and comparable to rates measured for this species previously (Winne et al., 2001). This high EML rate may reflect a highly aquatic ecology, where physiologically preventing EML by investing in resources like skin lipids would be energetically wasteful (Cohen, 1975). High lipid barrier permeability can permit cutaneous respiration, as seen in other aquatic or semi-aquatic snake species (Standaert & Johansen, 1974; Heatwole & Seymour, 1978). However, this adaptation to aquatic lifestyle may then constrain terrestrial activity, as much mass is lost cutaneously. In fact, there are many examples supporting a relationship between habitat use and EML. In reptiles, rates of water loss are often most strongly correlated with habitat aridity or microhabitat use (Cohen, 1975; Mautz, 1982). For example, a metaanalysis of 120 squamate species found that those inhabiting mesic environments had the highest rates of evaporative water loss (Cox & Cox, 2015). This relationship is largely explained by the lipid mesolayer beneath the skin that acts as the primary barrier against water loss (Lillywhite & Maderson et al., 1982). Although previous snake studies primarily investigated terrestrial species across moisture gradients, we believe a correlation between habitat use and water loss may also hold true for semi-aquatic snakes. For example, S. pygaea is rarely encountered out of water, is thought to be the most highly aquatic North American snake, and has the highest EML rate of any species in our community. This supports the idea that interspecific differences in barrier permeability relate to the evaporative stress of varying habitats chosen by species (Lillywhite et al., 2009).

Regina rigida had the lowest EML rate of any species, a surprising result given that *R*. *rigida* is closely related to *S*.*pygaea* (Pyron et al., 2013). One possible explanation for this disparity is activity, which is positively correlated with mass loss (Dmi'el, 1972; Cohen, 1975). We found that *R*. *rigida* was significantly less active than *S*. *pygaea* during EML trials. However, we believe activity likely is not the primary factor influencing this difference because of the magnitude of the EML difference and the fact that Winne et al. (2001) found activity had no effect on EML. Likewise, we also do not expect morphology to be the driver of the low EML rates we observed in *R. rigida* relative to *S. pygaea*; these species are generally similar in body shape and the individuals we tested overlapped broadly in body size (Fig. 1). Perhaps the most likely explanation for these surprising results is that our perception that *R. rigida* has a highly aquatic lifestyle is incorrect. *Regina rigida* is one of the least studied North American snakes and is traditionally thought to be highly aquatic, due to its rarity and a lack of terrestrial observations (Gibbons & Dorcas, 2004; Steen et al. 2011). Given that habitat use frequently correlates with EWL, it is possible that *R. rigida* is more terrestrial than has been thought (Steen et al. 2011). The low rates of water loss in *R. rigida* are unexpected, intriguing, and warrant further investigation.

Another surprising result was the difference in EML between *Nerodia* species. *Nerodia floridana* lost mass at approximately twice the rate of *N. fasciata*, despite these species being closely related and sharing similar morphologies. This disparity in water loss between *Nerodia* species further supports the notion that closely-related species do not always share similar rates of water loss, despite the suggestion by some authors that water loss rate may be phylogenetically conserved (Lahav & Dmi'el, 1996; Minnich, 1979). As with *S. pygaea* and *R. rigida*, high rates of EML in *N. floridana* may reflect microhabitat use. The ecology of *N. floridana* is also poorly understood, resulting in the perception *N. floridana* and *N. fasciata* are ecologically similar (Gibbons & Dorcas, 2004). However, the difference in EML we observed, in conjunction with differential sensitivity to drought (Seigel et al., 1995; Willson et al., 2006; Vogrinc and Willson, in prep), suggests that these species may differ in terms of their ecologies

and habitat preferences. *Nerodia floridana* may therefore be more aquatic than *N. fasciata*, as its presumably more permeable lipid barrier may be better suited to a highly aquatic lifestyle. More aquatic habitat use is further supported by a preference for fish as prey by *N. floridana* which are most common in permanent water bodies (Durso & Willson, 2011).

Locomotion

Despite logistical challenges and high variability among individuals, several patterns emerged from our locomotor performance experiments. All species readily swam in aquatic trials at higher speeds than they crawled terrestrially, similar to a study on semi-aquatic sea kraits (Laticaudidae) (Shine et al., 2003). In hydrated terrestrial trials, S. pygaea traveled farther and longer, but slower in average speed (m/s) than both N. floridana and F. abacura, our two largest species. However, relative to body size (body lengths/sec) S. pygaea also swims faster than any other species tested. This aquatic proficiency may reflect adaptations of S. pygaea to a highly aquatic lifestyle and the absence of conflicting requirements of terrestrial locomotion (Shine et al., 2003). Terrestrial hydrated trials did not differ from dehydrated trials in speed, total time to exhaustion, or distance for all species but S. pygaea (except sample size was low). This suggests that dehydration may have little influence on dispersal capacity, or that our dehydration threshold of 10% may have been too conservative. However, high variation and unequal sample size for all trial types makes interpretation of these results difficult. For both terrestrial trials, N. floridana frequently refused to crawl terrestrially, with most terrestrial trials ending in a defensive behavior. This suggests that N. floridana may be reluctant to make overland movements to escape drought, possibly because of their high rate of water loss or low mobility on land.

Implications for Drought Survival

A species' vulnerability to environmental change depends on a number of factors (Huey et al., 2012), especially physiological processes (Williams et al., 2008). Although, most studies have investigated temperature sensitivity rather than water loss, examples of physiological traits playing an important role in sensitivity to environmental change or stochasticity can be found in a variety of taxonomic groups. For example, many tropical ectotherms (e.g., insects and lizards) are highly sensitive to temperature shifts since they live close to their optimal temperatures (Deutsch et al., 2008; Chown, et al., 2002; Sinervo et al., 2010). Bats are particularly sensitive to shifts in ambient temperature that influence energy requirements necessary for successful hibernation (Humphries et al., 2002), and small bodied frog species are more vulnerable than larger species (Tracy et al., 2010). Our results indicate that physiological constraints and behavior of semi-aquatic snakes can influence a species' sensitivity to variation in precipitation.

Results of our EML and locomotion experiments can be useful in interpreting species' responses to drought. Previous research at population and landscape scales has shown that *R. rigida, F. abacura,* and *S. pygaea* are resilient to drought, experiencing no declines in occupancy but declines in detectability for *R. rigida* and *S. pygaea* (Vogrinc and Willson, in prep; Winne, 2008; Seigel et al., 1995). Conversely, both *Nerodia* species suffer reductions in occupancy and detectability following supraseasonal droughts and *N. floridana* are locally extirpated from all but the most permanent wetlands (Vogrinc and Willson, in prep). We believe that the high EWL rate of *N. floridana* and its apparent reluctance to move terrestrially may partially explain this species sensitivity to drought. Siegel et al. (1995) captured few *N. floridana* leaving a wetland during dry-down and used a drift-fence encircling a wetland to deduce that *N. floridana* likely remained within the wetland, rather than dispersing or migrating. Our terrestrial locomotion experiments support this conclusion. Although they readily swam in aquatic trials, *N. floridana*

frequently refused to make terrestrial movements, suggesting that they may feel uncomfortable on land, possibly due to the constraints of elevated EWL rate. Even those *N. floridana* that did crawl terrestrially in our trials, exhibited lower endurance than *N. fasciata*. Being reluctant to migrate, *Nerodia floridana* may remain within drying wetlands in attempt to wait out droughts. However, if droughts are too long or severe, their physiological limits may be exceeded, and they may perish. Conversely, the relatively lower rate of EWL and willingness to move overland may be key contributing factors allowing *N. fasciata* to seek refuge during droughts, recolonize, and repopulate rapidly (Winne, 2008).

If high rates of EWL may contribute to the sensitivity of *N. floridana* to drought, why don't we see similar patterns in S. pygaea or F. abacura? One hypothesis is that other species may be able to compensate for physiological parameters through behavior. For example, the desert dwelling Spalerosophis diadema (Diadem snake), had cutaneous water loss (CWL) and skin resistance (R_s) levels similar to the semi-aquatic *Natrix*, presumably due to alleviated constraints (lower temperatures) of nocturnal behavior (Dmi'el., 1985). In our study, Seminatrix pygaea have high EML but suffer little during droughts, and are likely unable to make considerable overland movements without dehydrating (Dorcas & Gibbons, 2004; Winne, 2008). Seminatrix pygaea may be so constrained by its physiology that there has been selection against dispersal during drought. They therefore use aestivation, a unique behavioral strategy that apparently makes them well-adapted to isolated habitats that may be prone to drought (Winne, 2008). Thus, S. pygaea can be classified as having resistance traits that allow them to 'sit out' drought due to a desiccation resistant life history stage (Bond et al., 2008). The other species from our community potentially using this strategy to persist despite moderate EML rates is F. abacura, which have anecdotally been reported to aestivate (Willson et al., 2006). However,

EML may not act as a significant behavioral constraint for *F. abacura*, since they exhibited the fastest terrestrial movement in our locomotion experiments and have been regularly documented to make extensive terrestrial movements (Steen, 2013). Therefore, large body size and fast movement over short distances might compensate for the moderate water loss of *F. abacura*.

Climatic changes are expected to result in range shifts and possible local extinctions for a variety of species (Chen et al., 2011) and changes in drought appear to have implications for the distribution and abundance of semi-aquatic snakes. This study has highlighted the importance of understanding species physiological and behavioral mechanisms that may mediate differential drought responses. However, additional research is needed to understand the physiological processes that limit these species and how they influence behavioral adaptations and population dynamics. For example, simulating wetland dry-down and drought in a laboratory setting could yield substantial insight into species' behavioral responses, potential plasticity in skin lipid composition, and limits of aestivation for species like S. pygaea. Alternatively, field studies that directly assess behavioral responses of different species (e.g., migration, dispersal, and aestivation) would provide a final critical parameter necessary to unlock complex relationships physiology, behavior, and drought survival. Ultimately, identification of physiological characteristics that could act as critical mechanisms prohibiting or facilitating drought survival is imperative to making informed management decisions for species threatened by environmental change.

66
F. References

- Arnold, S. J., & Bennett, A. F. (1988). Behavioural variation in natural populations. V. Morphological correlates of locomotion in the garter snake (*Thamnophis radix*). *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 34, 175-190.
- Bond, N. R., Lake, P. S., & Arthington, A. H. (2008). The impacts of drought on freshwater ecosystems: an Australian perspective. *Hydrobiologia*, 1, 3-16.
- Bonnet, X., Naulleau, G., & Shine, R. (1999). The dangers of leaving home: dispersal and mortality in snakes. *Biological conservation*, 89, 39-50.
- Chen, C. I., Hill, J. K., Ohlemüller, R., Roy, D. B., & Thomas, C. D. (2011). Rapid range shifts of species associated with high levels of climate warming. *Science*, 333, 1024-1026.
- Chessman, B. C. (1978). *Ecological studies of freshwater turtles in south-eastern Australia*. Monash University.
- Chessman, B. C. (1984). Evaporative Water Loss from Three South-Eastern Australian Species of Water Turtle. *Australian Journal of Zoology* 32: 649-655.
- Chesson, P. L. (1986). Environmental variation and the coexistence of species. *Community ecology*, 240, 54.
- Chown, S. L., Addo-Bediako, A., & Gaston, K.J. (2002). Physiological variation in insects: Large-scale patterns and their implications. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology*, 131, 587–602.
- Cohen, A. C. (1975). Some factors affecting water economy in snakes. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology*, 51, 361-368.
- Cox, C. L., & Cox, R. M. (2015). Evolutionary shifts in habitat aridity predict evaporative water loss across squamate reptiles. *Evolution*, 69, 2507-2516.

- Deutsch, C. A., Tewksbury, J.J., Huey, R. B., Sheldon, K. S., Ghalambor, C. K., Haak, D. C. & Martin, P. R. (2008). Impacts of climate warming on terrestrial ectotherms across latitude. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105, 6668-6672.
- Durso, A. M., Willson, J. D., & Winne, C. T. (2011). Needles in haystacks: Estimating detection probability and occupancy of rare and cryptic snakes. *Biological Conservation*, 144, 1508-1515.
- Dmi'el, R. (1972). Effect of activity and temperature on metabolism and water loss in snakes. *American Journal of Physiology--Legacy Content*, 223, 510-516.
- Dmi'el, R. (1985). Effect of body size and temperature on skin resistance to water loss in a desert snake. *Journal of thermal biology*, 10, 145-149.
- Ford, N. B., & Shuttlesworth, G. A. (1986). Effects of variation in food intake on locomotory performance of juvenile garter snakes. *Copeia*, 1986, 999-1001.
- Fox, J. & Weisberg, S. (2011). An {R} Companion to Applied Regression, Second Edition. Thousand Oaks CA: Sage.
- Gans, C., Krakauer, T. & Paganelli, C. V. (1968). Water loss in snakes: interspecific and intraspecific variability. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology*, 27, 747-761.
- Garant, D. A. N. Y., Forde, S. E., & Hendry, A. P. (2007). The multifarious effects of dispersal and gene flow on contemporary adaptation. *Functional Ecology*, 21, 434-443.
- Gibbons, J. W., & Dorcas, M. E. 2004. North American watersnakes: a natural history. University of Oklahoma Press.
- Gibbons, J. W., Winne, C. T., Scott, D. E., Willson, J. D., Glaudas, X., & Andrews, K. M... Rothermel, B. B. (2006). Remarkable amphibian biomass and abundance in an isolated wetland: implications for wetland conservation. *Conservation Biology*, 20, 1457–1465.

Greenwood, P. H. (1986). The natural history of African lungfishes. Journal of

Morphology, 190, 163-179.

- Heatwole, H., & Seymour, R. (1975). Pulmonary and cutaneous oxygen uptake in sea snakes and a file snake. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology*, 51, 399-405.
- Hill, R. W., Wyse, G. A., Anderson, M., & Anderson, M. (1989). *Animal physiology*, New York: Harper & Row.
- Howarth, R. W. (1988). Nutrient limitation of net primary production in marine ecosystems. *Annual review of ecology and systematics*, 89-110.
- Huey, R. B., Kearney, M. R., Krockenberger, A., Holtum, J. A. M., Jess, M. & Williams, S. E. (2012). Predicting organismal vulnerability to climate warming: roles of behaviour, physiology and adaptation. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 367, 1665-1679.
- Humphries, M. M., Thomas, D. W., & Speakman, J. R. (2002). Climate-mediated energetic constraints on the distribution of hibernating mammals. *Nature*, 418, 313-316.
- Keck, M. B. (1994). A new technique for sampling semi-aquatic snake populations. *Herpetological Natural History*, 2, 1-103.
- Keilin, J. (1959). The biological significance of uric acid and guanine excretion. *Biological Reviews*, 34, 265-294.
- Kennett, R. M., & Georges, A. (1990). Habitat utilization and its relationship to growth and reproduction of the eastern long-necked turtle, *Chelodina longicollis (Testudinata: Chelidae)*, from Australia. *Herpetologica*, 22-33.
- Lahav, S., & Dmi'el, R. (1996). Skin resistance to water loss in colubrid snakes: ecological and taxonomical correlations. *Ecoscience*, 135-139.
- Leeper, D. A., & Taylor, B. E. (1998). Abundance, biomass and production of aquatic invertebrates in Rainbow Bay, a temporary wetland in South Carolina, USA. *Archiv für*

Hydrobiologie, 143, 335-362.

- Lillywhite, H. B., & Maderson, P. F. A. (1982). Skin structure and permeability. *Biology of the Reptilia*, 12, Part C.
- Lillywhite, H. B., Menon, J. G., Menon, G. K., Sheehy, C. M., and Tu., M. C. (2009). Water exchange and permeability properties of the skin in three species of amphibious sea snakes (Laticauda spp.). *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 212, 1921-1929.
- Ruiz-Olmo, J., López-Martín, J. M., & Palazón, S. (2001). The influence of fish abundance on the otter (*Lutra lutra*) populations in Iberian Mediterranean habitats. *Journal of Zoology*, 254, 325-336.
- Mautz, W. J. (1982). Patterns of evaporative water loss. Biology of the Reptilia 12, 443-481.
- Minnich, J. E. (1979) Reptiles. In: Maloiy GMO (ed) Comparative physiology of osmoregulation in animals. New York: Academic Press.
- Morgan, J. M. (1984). Osmoregulation and water stress in higher plants. *Annual review of plant physiology*, 35, 299-319.
- Perron, G. G., Gonzalez, A. & Buckling, A. (2008). The rate of environmental change drives adaptation to an antibiotic sink. *Journal of evolutionary biology*, 21, 1724-1731.
- Pyron, R. A., Burbrink, F. T., & Wiens, J. J. (2013). A phylogeny and revised classification of Squamata, including 4161 species of lizards and snakes. *BMC evolutionary biology*, 13, 1.
- Rauhamäki, V., Wolfram, J., Jokitalo, E., Hanski, I., & Dahlhoff, E. P. (2014). Differences in the aerobic capacity of flight muscles between butterfly populations and species with dissimilar flight abilities. *PloS one*, 9, e78069.
- Reno, H. W., Gehlbach, F. R., & Turner, R. A. (1972). Skin and aestivational cocoon of the aquatic amphibian, *Siren intermedia* Le Conte. *Copeia*, 625-631.

- Romanowski, N. (2013). *Living Waters: Ecology of Animals in Swamps, Rivers, Lakes and Dams*. CSIRO Publishing.
- Sawna, M. N., and Coyle, E. F. (1999). 6 Influence of Body Water and Blood Volume on Thermoregulation and Exercise Performance in the Heat. *Exercise and sport sciences reviews*, 27, 167-218.
- Schlosser, I. J. (1990). Environmental variation, life history attributes, and community structure in stream fishes: implications for environmental management and assessment. *Environmental Management*, 14, 621-628.
- Seigel, R. A., Gibbons, J. W., & Lynch, T. K. (1995). Temporal changes in reptile populations: effects of a severe drought on aquatic snakes. *Herpetologica*, 424-434.
- Seigel, R. A., Huggins, M. M., & Ford, N. B. (1987). Reduction in locomotor ability as a cost of reproduction in gravid snakes. *Oecologia*, 73(4), 481-485.
- Semlitsch, R.D. (1998). Biological delineation of terrestrial buffer zones for pond-breeding salamanders. *Conservation Biology*, 12, 1113–1119.
- Sharitz, R. R. (2003). Carolina bay wetlands: unique habitats of the southeastern United States. *Wetlands*, 23, 550-562.
- Shine, R., Cogger, H. G., Reed, R. R., Shetty, S., & Bonnet, X. (2003). Aquatic and terrestrial locomotor speeds of amphibious sea-snakes (*Serpentes, Laticaudidae*). *Journal of* zoology, 259(3), 261-268.
- Sinervo, B., Méndez-de-la-Cruz, F., Miles, D. B., Heulin, B., Bastiaans, E., Villagrán-Santa Cruz, M., ... Sites Jr., J. W. (2010). Erosion of lizard diversity by climate change and altered thermal niches. *Science*, 328, 894–899.
- Standaert, T., & Johansen, K. (1974). Cutaneous gas exchange in snakes. *Journal of comparative physiology*, 89, 313-320.

- Steen, D. A., Stiles, J. A., Stiles, S. H., Guyer, C., Pierce, J. B., Rudolph, D. C., & Smith, L. L. (2011). Regina rigida (glossy crayfish snake). *Herpetological Review*, 42, 102.
- Steen, D. A., Stevenson, D. J., Beane, J. C., Willson, J. D., Aresco, M. J., Godwin, J. C... Guyer, C. (2013). Terrestrial movements of the red-bellied mudsnake (*Farancia abacura*) and rainbow snake (*F. erytrogramma*). *Herpetological Review*, 44, 208–213.
- Swaine, M. D. (1996). Rainfall and soil fertility as factors limiting forest species distributions in Ghana. *Journal of Ecology*, 84, 419-428.
- Tracy, C. R., Christian, K. A., & Tracy, C. R. (2010). Not just small, wet, and cold: effects of body size and skin resistance on thermoregulation and arboreality of frogs. *Ecology*, 91, 1477-1484.
- Trenberth K. E., Jones P. D., Ambenje P., Bojariu R., Easterling, D., Klein, T. A., ... Zhai, P. (2007) Observations: Surface and atmospheric climate change. In: Solomon S, Qin D, Manning M, Chen Z, and others (eds) Climate change 2007. The physical science basis. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Fourth Assessment report. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, UK, New York, NY, USA.
- Venterink, H. O., Davidsson, T. E., Kiehl, K., & Leonardson, L. (2002). Impact of drying and re-wetting on N, P and K dynamics in a wetland soil. *Plant and Soil*, 243, 119-130.
- Williams, S. E., Shoo, L. P., Isaac, J. L., Hoffmann, A. A. & Langham, G. (2008). Towards an integrated framework for assessing the vulnerability of species to climate change. *PLoS Biology*, 6, 2621–2626.
- Willson, J. D., Winne, C. T., & Fedewa, L. A. (2005). Unveiling escape and capture rates of aquatic snakes and salamanders (*Siren spp.* and *Amphiuma means*) in commercial funnel traps. *Journal of Freshwater Ecology*, 20, 397-403.
- Willson, J. D., Winne, C. T., Dorcas, M. E., & Gibbons, J. W. (2006). Post-drought responses of semi-aquatic snakes inhabiting an isolated wetland: insights on different strategies for persistence in a dynamic habitat. *Wetlands*, 26, 1071-1078.

Willson, J. D., & Winne, C. T. (2016). The predatory role of aquatic snakes in isolated wetlands: A case study evaluating functional roles of secretive species. *Journal of Zoology*, 298, 266-273.

- Winne, C. T., Ryan, T. J., Leiden, Y. & Dorcas, M. E. (2001). Evaporative water loss in two natricine snakes, *Nerodia fasciata* and *Seminatrix pygaea*. *Journal of Herpetology*, 35, 129-133.
- Winne, C. T., Willson, J. D., & Gibbons, J. W. (2006). Income breeding allows an aquatic snake Seminatrix pygaea to reproduce normally following prolonged drought-induced aestivation. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 75, 1352-1360.
- Winne, C.T. (2008). Seminatrix pygaea, a model of ecological resilience in dynamic habitats. PhD thesis, University of Georgia.

G. Acknowledgements

This material is based upon work supported by the Department of Energy Office of Environmental Management under Award Number DE-FCO9-07SR22506. I would like to sincerely thank the University of Arkansas for support and funding, and the Savannah River Ecology Laboratory (SREL) for hosting me and providing logistical support. I would like to thank Tracey Tuberville for graciously hosting and incorporating me into her lab at SREL. Whit Gibbons, Brett DeGregorio, Stacey Lance and Mark and Joy Vukovich were cornerstones of motivation and encouragement. I would like to thank Dan Quinn his fantastic hospitality and logistical support. Finally I would like to thank the following for their generous field and logistical support: Sean Poppy, David Lee Haskins, Megan Winzeler, Matt Hamilton, Austin Colemon, Wes Flynn, Cara Love, Chris Murphy, David Scott, and Angela Lindell.

H. Figure Legends

Figure 1. Total body mass lost over 6 h at 27°C and 50% relative humidity, relative to initial mass, for five species of semi-aquatic snakes; *Seminatrix pygaea* n= 34 (y = 0.2787x - 0.1736), *Farancia abacura* n= 22 (y = 0.8026x - 1.135), *Nerodia floridana* n= 22 (y = 0.6449x - 0.8528), *Nerodia fasciata* = 31(y = 0.6125x - 1.1082) and *Regina rigida* n=13(y = 0.5588x - 0.9588).

Figure 2. Locomotor endurance of four semi-aquatic snake species under three conditions: aquatic, hydrated terrestrial, and dehydrated terrestrial. a) The average speed traveled around a constructed circular track; b) total distance covered before exhaustion (snake no longer responds to ten light tap of the tail with a brush); c) the duration of locomotion prior to exhaustion. Numbers above bars represent sample sizes for each species.

Figure 3. Percentage of locomotion trials (aquatic, terrestrial, and dehydrated terrestrial combined), that resulted in three failed attempts (never successful), failed on the first, but successful on second or third trials (eventually successful), or successful the first trial, for four species of semi-aquatic snake. Numbers above bars represent sample sizes for each species.



Figure 1.







Figure 3.

IV. Conclusion

This thesis presents two studies investigating the responses of semi-aquatic snakes to drought in order to better understand large-scale effects of drought on distribution, abundance and species composition and mechanisms that mediate these species specific drought effects. In chapter one, we found that drought-related population dynamics of semi-aquatic snakes species observed at one wetland are repeatable at landscape-scales. Snake species were found to differ drastically in their drought responses, as some species were unaffected (*F. abacura*) or experienced minor reductions in detectability (*S. pygaea* and *R. rigida*.). Conversely, some species were declined substantially in both occupancy and detectability (*N. fasciata*) while another (*N. floridana*) became nearly extirpated in isolated wetlands across the landscape. This study highlights that supraseasonal drought is a significant stochastic event that can have serious implications for species' persistence and community dynamics. This is especially true for species that responded poorly like *N. floridana*, since drought frequency and intensity is predicted to increase due to climate change.

In chapter two, we found that physiological characteristics like EML and locomotor performance vary among species and likely are important in mediating drought responses of semi-aquatic snakes. Specifically, we found that differences in EML did not group out by taxonomic affinities but likely by each species habitat use. We found that species like *N*. *floridana* that had high water loss compared to a congeneric, also failed to make overland moments in terrestrial locomotor trials, likely due to a more highly aquatic lifestyle than was traditionally thought. Therefore a species locomotor ability and EML rate my act to prohibit or facilitate drought resilience or resistance for certain species.

In conclusion, we found that focal scale studies translate to the landscape scale and that

some species of semi-aquatic snake species respond more 'resistantly' or 'resiliently' than others. These differences are likely driven by interspecific variation in physiological characteristics like EML and locomotor performance. These studies are the first of their kind, and build a foundation for one of the most thorough investigations of the effects of environmental variation on a community of organisms. This information will be useful for predicting drought responses for other groups of semi-aquatic species that might be vulnerable to changes in drought frequency and other anthropogenic effects on the environment.



Office of Research Compliance

MEMORANDUM

TO: John D Willson

FROM: Craig N. Coon, Chairman Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee

DATE: May 2, 2014

SUBJECT: IACUC APPROVAL Expiration date: May 9, 2016

> The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) has APPROVED your modification to add additional species 13050: "and landcape-scale responses of semi-aquatic snakes to drought"

In granting its approval, the IACUC has approved only the modification provided. Should there be any further changes to the protocol during the research, please notify the IACUC in writing (via the Modification form) prior to initiating the changes. If the study period is expected to extend beyond May 9, 2016 you must submit a new protocol. By policy the IACUC cannot approve a study for more than 3 years at a time.

The IACUC appreciates your cooperation in complying with University and Federal guidelines for involving animal subjects.

CNC/aem

cc: Animal Welfare Veterinarian

Administration Building 210 • 1 University of Arkansas • Fayetteville, AR 72701-1201 • 479-575-4572 Fax: 479-575-3846 • http://vpred.uark.edu/199 The University of Arkansas is an equal appenance statistic matrix and methanian



Office of Research Compliance

MEMORANDUM

TO:

Dr. JD Willson FROM: Craig N. Coon, Chairman Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee DATE: June 20, 2014 SUBJECT: IACUC APPROVAL Expiration date: June 19, 2017 The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) has APPROVED your protocol 14056: "Evaporative Water loss and Locomotor Performance in Semi-aquatic Snakes "; In granting its approval, the IACUC has approved only the information provided. Should there be any further changes to the protocol during the research, please notify the IACUC in writing(via the Modification form) prior to initiating the changes. If the study period is expected to extend beyond J, 2017 you must submit a new protocol. By policy the IACUC cannot approve a study for more than 3 years at a time. The IACUC appreciates your cooperation in complying with University and Federal guidelines involving animal subjects. CNC/aem cc: Animal Welfare Veterinarian

Administration Building 210 + 1 University of Arkansas + Favetteville, AR 72701-1201 + 479-575-4572 Fax: 479-575-3846 + http://vpred.uark.edu/199 The Di ity of Arkansar is an i